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XEINADIN GROUP LIMITED

STRATEGIC REPORT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2021

The Directors present their Strategic Report for the year ended 31 May 2021.

BUSINESS STRATEGY

Xeinadin is a feading professional services platform providing a full suite of accountancy, tax and other businass advisory
services to entrepreneurs, SME's, corporatlons and not-for-profit organisations situated throughout the United Kingdom
{(UK) and the Republic of ireland (RO!). Through unmatched collaboration and innovation, we support and Insplra clients
to reach thelr strateglc business geoals or accomplish the mission of thair organisation.

Our focus is on SME market clients and currently we advise over §0,000 clisnts across a wide range of sectors. Our vision
is to be the most trusted business advisor and accountant for small and madium sized enterprises. Xeinadih interacts as
a trusted advisor, partner and support network dellvering an Innovative approach blending our technical and specialist
knowladge togsther with technology to provide data driven advice to clients in a local environment.

FORMATION AND CORPORATE ACTIVITY

The Group was formed on 1 June 2019 by the combination of 115 small and medium sized accountancy practices. In the
intervening two years the buslness combination in its new corporate environment has traded very successfully. A small
number of member offices took the decislon to exit the Group elther via the voluntary exlt window or as allowed by the
Xeinadin Board. In the year 10 31 May 2021 nine member offices (2020: four) exlted the Group, mostly because they were
not suited to or did not appreciate the benefits arising from the corporate environment of the Group. The voluntary exit
window Is now closed and all member offices are committed to membership of the Group unless permission {o leave Is
granted by the Xelnadin Group. The Group is exploring sources of funding which will enable the minarity interests of the
members to be acquired so that all the bensfits of full consolidation can be pursued for the bensfit of our cllents. The Group
is in negotiation with potential new target firms to join the Group and intends to pursue further opportunities over the next
12 months with the longer term objective of being a significant consolldator in the sector.

TRADING ENVIRONMENT
The year ended 31 May 2021 experienced the full Impact of Covid 19 and the uncertainty in the business world deriving
from Brexit. The Covid 19 pandemlc and the series of lockdowns did have a significant impact on the business
performance. In the flrst quarter meny of our colleagues were furloughed resulting in reduced staff and a disruption to
normal activity levels as many of our cllents scaled back thelr own businesses. While the economy has proved extremely
resilient and our revenues held up mainly very well, our offices in the travel and hospitality Industry were Impacted
throughout the full year. Government support has helped almost all our dllents to remain in business, but we have
experlenced a slowdown In workstreams such as flling accounts, paricularly as Companies House extended deadlines
with a resulting delay in revenue. However, this I8 not lost income as we expect to benefit from this backlog In this current
finanolal year.

During the 2021 trading year our trusted advisory teams have provided invaluable support to our cliants to help our clients
access various Brexlt and Covid supports. These supports were vital to our clients and this help has further strengthened
that trusted relationship with them. Our team of advisors have shown extracrdinary commitment and resllience having to
move almost avernight to remote working and continue to provide a seamless service to clients. The use of video
conferencing as a communication tool has played a vital role in communicating with cllents but also internally in connecting
the expertise and speclalists within the Xeinadin Group.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Financial performance

Revenue for the year at £104.1m (2020 £110.3m) was in line with budget expectations, following a reforecast of the budget
to take account of the pandemic effects. Excluding the impact of the exited offices, Group revenue for the year was
conslant, a very resilient performance bearing in mind as described above, the Impact of the Covid 19 pandemic and in
particular a delay in the normal accountancy and tax work due to fillng deadline extensions.

The main meastres of the Group's performance are Revenue, Operating Profit and Eamings before, non-trading tems,
Interest, Taxation, Depreciation and Amortisation (EBITDA). EBITDA for the year was £34.8m (2020 £39.9m). The
reduction in EBITDA of £5.1m Is due to the profit Impact of the reductlon In tumover of £7.3m, largely due to the exited
firms and the effects of Covid 19, offset by an Inorease in other oparating income.

EBITDA reconclled to profit after tax as follows 2021 2020

. . £m £m
EBITDA 34.8 399
Amortisation of Intangible Fixed Assets (8.4) (10.2)
Depreciation of Tangible Fixed Asseis/Right of Use Assets (2.6) (2.3)
Financlal settlement (3.1) -
Interest (0.3) (0.3)
Loss on Disposal of Subsidlaries (16.3) {13.1)
Taxation : (6.4) (4.4)
{Loss)/Profit after Taxation (3.3) 9.8
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The loss for the year of £3.3m is after deducting £18.6m of non-irading and exceptional items In relation to the loss on
disposal of nine subsidiaries (£16.3m loss on disposal, net of £0.8m release of defarred taxes on acquired Intangibles) and
financial settlement costs of £3.1m. The subsidiares that left the Group had previously joined without cash consideration
being pald and also left the Group for no conslideration, further information is set out in note 6 and note 16. Further
informatlon on the financial settlement costs are set out in note 7,

As shown on page 14 the trading profit for the year amounts to £22.7m (2020: £27.4m) which as a percentage of
turnover Is 21.8% (2020: 24.8%). The reduced margin was as expected and as per budgeted assumptions as the
employees who were historically partners in thelr own businesses moved towards market value salarles as employees of
the business.

Trading profits excluding the exited firms 1.e. on the basis of the 102 offices that remained in the business at the balance
sheet date can be expressed as follows:

2021 ’ 2020

£m £m

Revenue 100.8 100.0
EBITDA 34.2 36.3

The reduction in EBITDA of £2.1m is largely due to an Increase In overall expenditure of £3.6m less the increase in other
operating income of £1.2m. Thae Increase In expenditure is largely due 1o the increase in salary costs as explained above.

Since the year end, the Group has continued to trade successfully with all key KPls being materially meintained. There
have been no further exits from the Group since year end. .

Financlal position
The consolidated statement of financlal position on page 16 shows the Group financial position at the year énd. The
Group's financlal position was considered strong in terms of working capltal and cash and the Directors belleve the Group

to be well positioned for future growth.

The major changes in the Group's financlal position during the year were as follows:

The movement in goodwill relates to additions made during the year of £0.5m, net of goodwill disposed of In respect of
exited firms £9.9m.

Other intangibles show a reduction of £9.4m for amortisation and £4.9m in respect of the nine member fims exiting the
Group.

Right of use assets includes new leases taken ocut during the year of £2.2m, net of depreciation and exchange differences
of £2.0m and asset disposals of £0.7m, ) . )

The average credit period on trade recelvables was 71 days (2020: 68 days) and for contract assets 38 days (2020: 34
days), the increase in the number of lockup days was largeiy due to the impact of Covid-19.

Trade end other payables show a reduction of £3.4m which was largely due (o a reduction In accruals and other creditors
payable of £2.9m.

The provision for deferred tax includes the release of £2.6m for disposals and amortisation, offset by an increase of £3.1m
due fo the enactment in tax rate to 25% from 1 April 2023.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Business risk ’

The Group Is In the process of implementing a new hub structure comprising fourteen Reglonal Hubs across the UK and

Ireland. This structure aims to optimise span of control and identify opportunities for both Revenue Growth and Cost

Synergies.

Risk management [s an important element of the management process throughout the Group, and internal controls have

been developed and are continuously reviewed to address the principal business risk which Is considered to be operationat

;)lsk. The Group has a range of processes in place to accurately identify, control and mitigate risks across all areas of the
usiness.

The Group’s most Important assets ara Its team members, clients and [T infrastructure.

- As a people led organisation Xelnadin supports its team members by developing, training and understanding them.
During the current year the business has launched the "Evolve” programme a professlonal development training
pragramme for all client facing teams.

- The needs of the Group's clients are continually reviewed to ensure thatthe Group meets its objective of providing an
Industry leading business advisory service. .

- Xelnadin recognises the importance of safeguarding data, and we are continuously assessing our GDPR and security
policies and procedures to ensure compliance. )

- The Group recognises the Importance of its IT Infrastructure both internally and client facing and Is bullding a roadmap
to become industry leading through Iits Investment in this area,

- Current economic conditions are being monltored closely but as Xeinadin is not rellant on any major clients or sectors,
the Group has been extremsly reslllent to the impact of Covid 19.
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Management monltors other risks and uncertainties within the business. These Include competition, and changes In
regulation. Controls exist to ensure informatlon is made avallable to enable management to monitor the performance of
the Group. The controls address the performance of the Group based on monthly management accounts and key KPis
which Include detalls of fee income and overhead costs. The business regularly monltors new business wins, cllent
attrition and relles on monthly management accounts fogether with an annual budget and quarterly forecasting system to
Identify any trading downturn in time to carry out the necessary mitigating actions,

OTHER RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Currency risk

The Group Is not exposed to materlal currency risk as firms in the Republic of Ireland match both cash Iinflows and outflows
In euros. There is less than 1% of the Group's Income base which is not denominated in either sterling or euro currency,
driving any currency volatlity. Any foreign exchange Impact reported In the flnanclal statements is primarlly due to
translating the consolidated results of the Group Into sterling at the balance sheet date.

Liquidity risk

The Group generates sufficient working capital to meets Its requirements both In tarms of organic and acqulsition growth.
The Group has minimel borrowings and cashflows are forecasted out over a minimum of three years ensuring sufficlent
funding to meet its strategic goals

Creditrisk

All customers who wish to trade ‘on credit ferms are subject to credit verification procédures. Trade recéivables are
reviewed on a regular basis and where required; an impalrment expected credit loss is provided. These assessments
during the Covid 19 period have been completed using our best knowledge of the impact to the worst hit industries and
our clients within those sectors.

Going concern

The Group's continued response to the Covid19 pandemic has been to protect the health and safety ofits staffand partners
through ongolng home working and liaising closely with clients to minimise overall business disruption. The business
conlinues to monitor initiatives put in place in this regard, keeping people connected by contlnumg fo offer addlllonal online
support for lts staff and ﬂexlble working arrangements.

The Group continues to operate a low-risk business model with no significant business or customer concentratlon and
continues to be successfully adaptable to home working. The Group continues to operate the Government support
schemes In both the UK and Ireland, including the use of furlough, VAT and PAYE deferral arrangements the terms of
which have been complied with, see note 4 for detalls of Government grants racelved. .

The Pandemic has continued to have a modest impact In the Group's performanca over the past 12 months which can be
summarised as follows:

1. Adversely Impacting the liquidity of some member firms with payments slowing down across thelr respedﬂve cilent
base,

2. A small number of firms continue to be exposed to sectors impacted by the longer-term effects of the pandemio, e.g.,
travel and hospitality.

The aggregate impact of the above was ¢ 3% -~ 5% of Group furnover and an increase in working caputal of up to £2m. The
Group is not materlally reflant on bank funding, given the strong cash generation of Its member firms.- . N

The Directors have prepared base case financlal forecasts for the perlod April 2021 to November 2022 and these provide
a good level of comfort In the assessment of liquidity for the Group. The uncsrtainty due to the Impact of the Covid19
pandemic has continued to be considered and monitored closely in these forecasts as part of the Group's adoption of the
golng concern basls {further detall on stress-testmg performed over the Group's future cash flows Is g[ven on page 24)

Brexit
The Group is not directly impacted by the changes arsing from the UK leaving the European Unlon (‘Brexit’) and the
Group's diverse client-base and sectors shields it from any indirect impact.

Future developments

The Group will contlnue to advance lts strategic plan to become a leading advisory firm to the SME sector underplnned by
a strong technology platform, The Group Intends to seek acquisitions that will contribute to our strateglc goal to grow the
Group substantially over the future years. The Group will also grow organically via Its Implemented hub structure.
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GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS

Xelnadln ls a newly formed Group, and whilst reporting at a Group level for the financial year, has taken the option to
exclude from the report, any energy and carbon information refating to its subsidiaries where the subsidiaries would not
themselves be obliged to Include If reporting on thelr own account. Xeinadin qualifles as a Consolidated Group, but no
subsidiaries need to be Inciuded as they fall under the reporting thresholds.

Whilst there is currently no process in place al present to monitor the Group's greenhouse gas emissions, the business Is
intending to put In measures over the next 12 months fo track its emissions In line with the guldelines set up under the
2018 Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting regulations (SECR). The Directors are committed In connection with the
overall Group strategy on climate change and have put several measures in place outlined below to reduce its Carbon
footprint over the coming financial years and to track this performance to evidence such plans.

Whilst no quantitative data is required for the publication of its financial statements under the Companies (Director’s report)
and Limited Liability Partnerships (Energy and Carbon report) Regulation 2018, in terms of CO2 tonnes generated and Its
intensity calculations, the following measures have been deployed to support the Group's overall Climate Changs
inltlatives. Tha business concurs that CO2 emisslong in connection with its energy usage and business travel exist, which
need to be managed and monitored accurately in the future.

The Group Is In the process of signing up to the Sclence Based Target Initiative (SBTI) which is an intemationally
racognized programme designed to monitor and improve carbon footprint targets. Joining this program, which recognises
the level of climate action needed globally to align to the Parls agreement and franslates these Into specific business
targets, shows the Group's commitment to the world problems around climate change as well as setting a leadership
example and gulding its clients accordingly on how they can adopt a gresner approach to the way they operate in the
future. This will further Improve the Group’s reputetion, drive Innovation, anticipate leglsiative changes, and ultimately
reduce future business costs.

Xelnadin Is aware of the threat of technological advancement and Is currently developing forward thinking finance tools
(product fife cycle assessmants, a sustalnability Ideas database and predictive tax and grant advice) fo support and protect
its current customer base In a changing environment. The business Is fooking to recycle its future IT equipment through a
more circular supply chaln as opposed to a linear approach and run change management courses to continually educate
and relnforce its sustainabllity plans to lts staff as well as its current and prospective clients.

Xeinadin is focused on the need to demonstrate its awareness of climate change to potential investors, by showing
commitment to reduce its carbon footprint. More and more Investors are backing environmentally consclous businesses
and Xeinadin is iargeling an annual reduction In its carbon footprint, Including looking at investments which support its
fulure sustainability strategy. This strategy extends beyond investment and focuses also on engaging with national

Suppllers with vested Interests In sustalnabllity (carbon reduction Initiative), aligned to the ISO 14001 accreditation and

there's a clear intention to condenss its supply chain around those likeminded suppliers. The business Is planning to gain
the 1ISO 14001 accreditation during the coming financial year. o :

The buslness offers Its clients tax and grant advice (Informing on the tax implications of environmental changes) as well
as sharing its sustainability ideas with clients. By creating a proactive risk assessment tool for its cllents; this will further
raise awareness and connect to its client base to further add to the Group's intentions around sustainability.

The Group, as part of its continual improvement Initiatives, is training both Iis team (creating Sustalnabllity Consultants)
and client base and Is looking for sponsors to promote its migsion around its carbon footprint objectives. These sponsors
will champlon the programme on behalf of the Group and fecus on team awareness as well as change management
strategies, iIncluding changes to its members' business models end operatlonal procasses.

The Group is aware of the effect of climate shange on Its financial performance. The directors accept other risks and
opportunities under the TCFD guidance need to be considered. The directors remain focused on reducing the Group's
carbon footprint through the sevaral key initlatives set out above and will further support this by tracking its CO2 emissions
over the coming financial years with Improved reporting as part of both the SBTI and encouraging more environmentally
friendly strategies, The directors will be setting up the procasses and reporting required in order to create potential business
opportunities with a low carbon strategy responding to climate change. Both client and future Investor perception |8 critical,
as part of the Group's strategy of reducing its future greenhouse gas emissions, driving both the business future profitability
and future valuation. :
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XEINADIN GROUP LIMITED

STRATEGIC REPORT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2021

SECTION 172{1) STATEMENT

Section 172 of the Companles Act 2006 requires a Director of a company to act In a way he or she consliders In good faith
would most likely provide the success of the company for the benefit of Its members as a whole and In doing so, have
regards (amongst other matters) to the following key areas of focus:

a)  The likely consequences of any decisions In the long term

b)  The interests of its employees

c) The need to foster the company s business relationships with suppliers, customers, and other key stakeholdars
d)  The Impact of the company's aperation on both the community and the environment

@)  The desirability of the company malntalning a reputation for high standards of business conduct and

f) The need to act falrly betwsen all members of the cornpany

In adherence to their duty under 8172, the Directors have considered the above factors and oonslder the interests of all
relevant stakeholders when making decisions on behalf of the Group. This has been set out below under the following
subheadings:

The likely consequences of any declisions In the long term

The Xeinadin Group Ltd Is a group of 102 accountancy firms and its principal activity Is to service those companies in the
group, who In turn offer a range of tallored advisory services to thelr diverse client base. The Group considers the success
of the business Is not just down to )ts financial performance, but the social and environmental Impact of its operation is
aqually important. As a UK and Ireland professional services business, the Group aims to:” ~

continuously develop the workplace for its employees through long term succession planning, ensuring talent retention
and knowledge development by bringing up the next wave of pivotal staff.

provide sustainable growth through responsibie and Innovative business practices through development of interactive
systems and training. The business offers its cllents tax and grant advice around sustalnabllity, creating a proactive risk
assessment tgol for Its cllents, ralsing awareness and connecting to its cllent base, to further add to client awareness on
various environmental, commerclal and social matters. The business ls continuously looking for more forward-thinking
solutions as well as developing its Bl systems at a Group level to provide more lnformed responsuve solutions for its
clients.

positively engage with all communities in which the Group operates through a range of both charitable and fund-raising
activities.

Thare are Group policies and procedure In place to ensure the business succeeds In meeting its key performance Indicators
and it integrates responsible business practice through its clear management structura.

The interests of its employees

The Group places considerable value on the participation and involvement of all Its directors and employess and has
various channels of communication for engagement. The successlon planning internally is being used to build-up the next
layer for bringing in after the retirement of key Directors. The business is rolling out the Evolve programms to keep their
staff abreast of the latest knowledge and empower thelr sklllset to provide leading advices to thelr clients.

Employees continue to be al the heart of the business, all of whom play a pivotal part In the business contlnulng efforts to
be at the forefront of the professional services industry, through offering leading Industry service and expertise. During the
year, regular meetings are he!d betwsen management and its employees to communicate the financial performance and
business strategy. Employees gre regularly consulted to obtain their views on all matters affecting them and by doing so
are aware of the financlal, social and econemic factors affecling the performance of the company.

The need to foster the company’s business relationships with customers, suppliers and other key stakeholders

The Group has processes and procedures in place to ensure that its suppllers are paid promptly and within agreed payment
terms. .

Strong client relations are achieved through receiving regular client feedback and the Group's ongoing commitment to
delivering excellent customer service through a clear, solutions orientated approach.

Ongoing engagement and implementation of all regulatory requirements help the Group develop and maintain open and
transparent relationships with all its regulators. Regular assurance reviews are oarried out by the relevant professional
institutes as part of ensuring the company's falmess and professional conduct In managing. all client complaints and that
these are dealt with on a timely basis.
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The impact of the company’s opsration on both the community and the environment

The Group is committed to promoting the conservation of natural resources, preventing environmental poliution, and Is
continually improving its performance through its ongolng sustainabliity programme (See carbon emisslons disclosure).
The Group regards environmental regulations, laws and codes of practice as the minimum standard that It should aim for
and works towards exceeding these benchmarks.

The Group supports its corporate responsibliity through all Its subsldiary firms and actlvely encourages both directors and
its staff to participate In {ts responsibility code.

The desirability of the company to maintain a reputation for hlgh standards of business conduct

The Group Is purpose led, helping its clients, its peopls, and its communities to ali thrive. The Group strategy Is bullt around
a set of core values embedded Into its operations and culture, which in tum guldes the balanced decisions made by the
directors of the Group. The Group's compliance with regulations (Including various accountancy bodies), further supports
the adherence to the highest standards of conduct and ethics.

The appointment of an experlenced board, balanced with three non-gxecutive directors to oversee the development of the
future strategy and ensure growth is pursued In a sustainable and responsible manner, further supports the Group's
compliance to the highest code of behaviours.

The signing by subsldlary firms to the Consolidation and Membership agreements, defines the behaviours and actlons that
the subsidlary firms must five by. .

The need to dét fairly between members of the company

The company Is owned by the Xelnadin Group of which its directors are members. The Management structure, with control
at e Graup level, ensures the interests of all Group entities are very closely aligned, with subsidiary firms required to abide
by-the {erms of internal Consolldation and Membershlp agreements, to ensure standards are being upheld and behaviours
are in alignment with the Xeinadin practice.

As a result, the transactions between the company and other member firms of the Group are carried out at both an am's
length and on a commercial basis. There Is a Group-wide growth mentality that supports the referral processes being used

openly and honestly, to ensure that work Is being properly passed aver to the requisite member firms who ars best pleced
to deal with it.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD:

DN

D Crowlay-—f@mcm o

Date: |8NVV""‘\""/2'O 2
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XEINADIN GROUP LIMITED

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2021

The directors present their report with the financial statements of the company and the Group for the year ended
31 May 2021.

DIVIDENDS
The directors do not recommend payment of a dividend in respect of the year ended 31 May 2021 (2020: nons).

FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS
The detalls of likely future developments in the Group's business are disclosed on page 4 of the Strategic Report.

GOING CONCERN
The financlal statements are prepared on a going concern basls. The reasons for adopting this basls are disclosed on

page 4 of the Strategic Report.

EVENTS SINCE THE END OF THE YEAR

Since the statement of financlal position date, the Group has continued to successfully navigate the business through the
Covid-19 pandemic and related lockdowns. The Group Is In advanced negotlations with a number of accountancy practices
to acquire those practices as part of the Xelnadin Group. The Xeinadin Group expects to fund the acqulsition of these
entitles by an equity transaction.

Tax rates with effect from 1 April 2023 are expected to rise to 25% In accordance with the fact that the Finance Bl has
recelved royal assent. Given the substantive enactment of this tax rate on 24 May 2021, the deferred tax balance (see
note 23) has been re-measured by £3.1m to factor in the Impact of the higher rate.

in October 2021, the Group successfully agreed the purchase of 100% of the share capltal of a target company to join the
Xeinadin Group, on the basls of total cash consideration payable of £2m. £1m will be payable by end of March 2022 and
two further instalments of £0.5m will be payable on the first and second anniversaries of the initfal paymant date. Given
the proximity of this event to the date of slgning these financlal statemsnts, management have not yet conducled a

IR T t

Further potential acquisitions have been targeted and are at varying stages, Including 3 entitles that have agreed Heads

of Terms with the Group.

DIRECTORS ' '
The directors shown below have hald office during the whole of the period from 1 June 2020 to the date of this report

" JDLee

A C Crawford
D Crowtey

J Wall

Mrs P Benoit
Mrs S M Clarke

Other changes In directors holding offlce are as follows:
N D Bennett - reslgned 31 March 2021

J L V Beressi - resigned 8 February 2021
A S‘Marsh - appolnted 24 March 2021

M K Kingston - appointed 24 March 2021

M H Burgess, R @ W Williams and § O Nice were appointed as directors after 31 May 2021 but prior to the date of this
report.

P C Matthews, R J Stebbings and M K Kingston ceased to be directors after 31 May 2021 bﬁt prior io the date of this
reporl.

DIRECTORS INDEMNITIES
The directors are covered by appropriate director’s liabllity insurance maintalned by Xelnadin Group Limited, the ultimate
parent company and are elso indemnified In the company's Articles of Assoclation,

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

The Group's activilles expose Il to several financial risks, including price risk, credil risk, liquidity rsk, cash flow risk and
currency risk.
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Price risk .
The directors and management work hard to grow and develop the Group and malntaln strong relationships with both the
Group's partners and customers. However, the Group faces industry wide risks in the form of both compstition and
legislation. The Graup Is stilt competing against smaller accountancy firms so must ensure lts priclng Is appropriate to such
markets. Offering a local service with emphasls on client satisfaction mitigates some of the risk. The directors continue to
manage such risks through regular reviews at monthly board meetings.

Cradit risk :

The Group's financial assets are cash, trade and other recelvables, contract assets and Investments. Tha Group’s credit
risk is primarily atiributable to its trade recelvables. The amounts presented In the consolidated statement of financial
position are net of provisions for doubtiul recelvables. An allowance I3 made for expacted oredit losses based on a
comblnation of past losses taken over a window of data of two years, split by industry/sector of the dlient base serviced by
each Xeinadin Group firm. The allowance then includes a specific uplift provision for the forwerd-looking element of the
Industry/sactor and the risk to collection that this faces in the wake of macroeconomie events, which is a judgemental
decision by each Xelnadin Group flrm depending on Its exposure to those sectors.

Liquidity risk

In order to maintaln liquidity to ensure that sufficlent funds are avallable for ongoing operations and future developments,
the Group uses a mixture of cash held and minimal debt financlng. Further detalls regarding liquidity risk can ba found on
page 4 of the Strategio Report. : : .

Cash flow risk .

Cash flow risk is primarily mitigated by a central collection process and statistics monitored by the Group flnance team
which prevents debts from becoming significantly aged. Regular updates with the member firms ensures the required
feedback and any relevant actions to teke, to ensure the Group mitigates any significant debts from becoming
uncollectable. :

Currency risk

The Group is nol exposed to materlal currency risk as the RO! firms match both cash inflows and outflows in-euros. There
is less than 1% of the Group’s Income-base which Is not denominated in either sterling or euro currency, ultimately driving
any currency volatility.

Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting (SECR)

The Group Is aware of the effect of climate change on Its financial performance. The directors accept other risks and
opportunities need to be considered as part of encouraging more environmental strategles. In terms of regulated reporting
the parent company, Xelnadin Group Limited acknowledges it generates less than the specified 40,000 kwh of outputs,
Further details regarding greenhouse gas emissions can be found on page 6 of the Strategic Report.

EMPLOYEE INVOLVEMENT .

The Xeinadin Group operates an equal opportunities policy that alms to ensure all employees are treated fairly across the
Group. The Group places considerable value on the particlpative Involvement of its directors and employees and has
varlous channels of communication and engagement. During the year, regular meetings are held between management
and its employees to communicate the performance of the Group and business strategy. - Employeas are regularly
consulted on matters affecting them and by doing so are aware of the financlal, soclal and economic factors affecting the
performance of the Group.

The Group gives full and fair consideration to the application for employment from disabled persons where the requirement
of the job may be adequately covered by a disabled person. With regards to exisling employees who become disabled,
the Group has continued to explore ways of providing continulng employment under normal terms and conditions.
Disabled persons are offered the same opportunitles regarding training, career progression and promotlon.

STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITIES
The directors are responsible for preparing the Strateglc Report, the Report of the Directors and the financial statements
in accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Company law reduires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. The directors have elected to
prepare the financlal statements in accordance with International Accounting Standards in conformity with the requirements
of the Companles Act 2006. Under company law the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are
satisfied that they glve a true and falr view of the state of affairs of the company and the Group and of the profit or loss of
the Group for that period. In preparing these financial statements, the directors are regquired to: :
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XEINADIN GROUP LIMITED

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2021

" - select sultable accounting policles and then apply them conslistently;

- make judgements and accounting estimates that are reagonable and prudent;

- state whether they have been prepared In accordance with International Accounting Standards In conformity with
the requirements of the Companies Act 2006; and

- - prepare the financlal statements on the going concern basis unless it Is inappropriate to presume that the company
will continue in business.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the
company's and the Group's transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financlal position of the
company and the Group and enable them to ensure that the financlal statements comply with the Companiss Act 2006.
They are also rasponsible for safeguarding the assets of the company and.the Group and hence for taking reasonable
steps for the prevention and detaction of fraud and other irregularities.,

STATEMENT AS TO DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION TO AUDITORS
Each of the persons who are Directors at the time when the Directors report Is approved has confirmed that:

- sofar as the director is aware, there is no relevant audit Information of which the Group auditors are unaware and,
- the directors have taken all the steps that ought to have been taken as a director In order to be aware of any relevant
audit information, and to establish that the Group's auditors are aware of that information.

AUDITORS - o s
The auditors, BDO LLP, will be proposed for re-appointment at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD:
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF
XEINADIN GROUP LIMITED

Oplnion on the financlal statements
In our opinlon:

. the financial statements give a true and falr view of the state of the Group's and of the Parant Company'’s affairs as at
31 May 2021 and of the Group’s loss for the year then ended;

+ the Group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with international accounting standards In
conformity with the requirements of the Companles Act 2006;

+ the Parent Company financlal statements have been properly prepared in accordance with International accounting
standards in conformity with the requirements of the Companles Act 2008 and as applied in accordance with the
provisions of the Companles Act 2006; and

. the flnanclal statements have bsen prepared in accordance with the requiraments of the Compenles Act 2006,

We have audited the financial statements of Xeinadin Group Limited (the '‘Parent Company') and its subsidlaries (the
‘Group') for the year ended 31 May 2021 which comprise the congolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolldated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehenslive Income, the consolldated and company statements of financial
position, the consolidated and company statement of changes in equity, the consolidated and company statement of
cashflows, and notes to the flnancial statements, Including a summary of significant accounting polictes. The financial
reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and Internatlonal accounting' standards in
conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 and, as regards the Parent Company financial statements,
as applied In accordance with the provisions of the Companles Act 2006.

Basis for opinion ’ )

We conducted our audit in accordance with international Standards on Auditing (UK) (1ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial
statements section of our report. We belleve that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficlent and appropriate to
provide a basls for our opinlon.

Independence

We are independent of the Group and the Parent Company In accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant
to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC's Ethical Standard, and we have fuffilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.

Conclusions relating to going concern
In auditing the financlal statements, we have concluded that the Directors’ use of the going concern basis of accountlng In
the preparation of the flnanclal statements is approprlate

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identffied any materlal uncertainties relating to events or conditions
that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the Group's and Parent Company's ability to continue as a
going concern for a period of at laast twelve months from when the flnanclal statements are authorised for Issue,

Our responsibilities and the responsibllities of the Directors with respect to going concem are described In the relevant
sections of this report.

Other information

The directors are responsibie for the other information. The other information comprises the information included In the
strategic repont, report of the Directors othar than the financial statements and our auditor's report therson. Our opinion on
the financlal statements does not cover the ather information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our
raport, wo do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. Our responsibllity Is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other Information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the course of the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. Hf we idenlify such material
inconslslencles or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether this gives rise to a material
misslatement in the financlal statements themselves. if, based on the work we have performed, we conclude lhat there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report In this regard.

Other Companies Act 2008 reporting
in our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

+ the information given In the Strategic raport and the report of the Directors for the financlel year for which the financial
statements are prepared Is consistent with the financial statements; and

+ the Sirategic report and the report of the Directors have been prepared Iin accordance with applicable legal
requirements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF
XEINADIN GROUP LIMITED

In the light of the knowledge and undersianding of the Group and Parent Company end its environment obtained In the
course of the audit, we have not Identifled materlal misstatements In the strategic report and the report of the Directors.

We have nothing to report In respect of the following matters In relation to which the Companies Act 2006 requlres us to
report to you If, in our opinian:

+ adequate accounting records have not bean kept by the Parant Company, or returns adequate for our audit have not
been racelved from branches not vislted by us; or

+ the Parent Company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or
certain disclosures of Directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or

+ we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

Responsibilities of Directors

As explained more fully in the Directors’ responsibilities statement, the Directors are responsible for the preparation of the
financlal statements and for belng satisfled that they glve a true and falr view, and for such Internal control as the Directors
determine Is nacessary to enable the preparation of financlal statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error. .

In preparing the financlal statements, the Directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s and the Parent Company’s
ability to continue &s a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to golng concern and using the going
concern basls of accounting unlass the Directors elther Intend to liquldate the Group or the Parent Company or to cease
operatlons, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor's responsibliities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financlal statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to Issue an auditor's report that Includes our opinion. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audlt conducted in accardance with ISAs (UK) will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements oan arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, Individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expeacted to Influsnce the economic decisions of users
taken on tha basis of these financial statements.

Extent fo which the audit was capable of detecling iregularities, including fraud

. Irregularities, Including fraud, are Instanoes of non-compliance with Jaws and regulations. We deslign procedures In line
with our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of irreguiaritles, including fraud. The
extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting Irregularities, including fraud is detalled below:

+  We conducted detailed testing of journals across the top 19 entities within the Group, focussing on audit of journals
with parameters outside of hormal expectations from revenus postings and transactions with minority owners of the
Group;

+  We tested consolidation adjustments posted to ensure that these were reasonable and expected, and where these
exceeded a cortain threshold, were corroborated to supporting documentation providad by Management;

We performed testing on speciflc cash payments in the yeer to identlfy any fraudulent extraction of funds from the
audited components of the business;

- The auditteam considered Management's judgments, utilising data available to support and challenge judgments made
respactlvely, and consldering whether any overall blas existed within accounting Judgments and estimates made by
Management in preparing the Group's financial statements;

- The audit team obtained a register of all potential negligence claims (or otherwise) agalnst the Group based on current
circumstances and challenged a number of these to obtain a view on their likely outcome to the Group, in addition to
establishing whether these were Indicative of fraud in relation to the Group’s compliance framework with regulatory

. bodies and othenwise;

+ The audit team's approach to revenue involved specific focus on challenging assessments and assumptions mads
around accounting for accrued income balances at the year-end by challenging to time sheets and evidence of
milestone completions, In addition to tasting of cut-off around year-end to Identify any material issues with revenue
recognition around the year-end which is considered to be most open to Management judgment;

+ We conducted testing of employee casts to testing of existence of those employees to ensure validity of costs incurred
in relation to employee wages and salaries, .

We performed testing around {ransactions with Directors and previous Practice Companies to ensure that no material
fraud was occurring in respect of transactions being undertaken directly with Dirsctors; and.”

+ In the case of our work on each of the individual subsidiaries, enquiries were made with the nominated Management
contact in each case to consider whether there had been any material breaches of compliancé or regulations in respect
of ragulatory bodles applicable to the Group.

Page 12




INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF
XEINADIN GROUP LIMITED

Our audit procedures were designed to respond to risks of materlal misstatement In the finandlal statements, recognising
that the risk of not detecting a material misstatement dus to fraud Is higher than the risk of not detecting one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve dellberate concealment by, for example, forgery, misrepresentations or through collusion. There
are Ihherent limitations in the audit procedures performed and the further removed non-compllance with laws and
regulations is from the events and transactions reflected In the financlal statements, the less likely we are to become aware
of it.

A further description of our responsibilities is avallable on the Financial Reporling Council's wabhsite at:
www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsiblilities. This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

Use of our report

This report Is made solely to the Parent Company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chaptar 3 of Part 16 of the
Companies Act 2008. Our audit worl has been undertaken so that we might state to the Parent Company’s members
those matters we are required to state to them In an auditor's report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent
permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibllity to anyone other than the Parent Company and the Parent
Company's members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinlons we have formed.

DocuSigned by:

E\ndrew Radford
A42BFCDC3B704BE...

Andrew Radford {Senior Statutory Auditor)

For and on behalf of BDO LLP, Statutory Auditor

London, UK

Date:

BDO LLP is a limited liabllity partnership registered in England and Wales (with registered number 0C305127).

18 November 2021
Date: v e
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XEINADIN GROUP LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2021

2021 2020
Non-trading
and Non-trading
Trading exceptional and exceptional
items items Total Trading items items Total
Notes . £000 £'000 £000 £'000 £'000 £'000

CONTINUING OPERATIONS
Revenue 3 104,123 - 104,123 110,289 - 110,289
Qther operating income 4 2,474 - 2474 1,301 - 1,301
Staff costs 5 {50,580) - {50,580) (50,106) - {50,106)
Depreciation and amortisation 8 (12,007) - (12,007) {12,523) - {12,523)
Other operating expenses (21,263) (3,099) (24,362) (21,566) - (21,568)
Loss on dispo%l of subsidiaries 6 - {16,257} (16,257) - (13,093)
OPERATING PROFIT 8 22,747 (19,356) 3,391 271395 " (13,003)
Finance costs 9 {350) - (350) 317) -
Finance income J ) R s 6 -
PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION 22,406 (19,356) 3,050 ‘ 27,084 » {13,093) )
Taxation . 10 {7,194 L 505
(LOSSYPROFIT FOR THE YEAR 5212 (18,525) (12,588)
Profit attributable to:
Owners of the parent 4,647 {6,762) (2.035)
Non-controlling interests 10,565 {11,763) (10,553)

: T45212 (18525) (12.588)

The notes form part of these financial statements
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XEINADIN GROUP LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2021

Notes

(LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS)INCOME
Item that will or may be reclassified to profit or loss:

Exchange (loss)/gain on consolldation

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS)/INCOME
FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAXATION

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS)/INCOME
FOR THE YEAR

Total comprehensive (loss)Income attributable to:
Owners of the parent
Non-controlling Interests

Eamings per share expressed In pounds per share: 12

Basic

" Dlluted

The notes form part of these financial statements
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2021
£000

(3,313)

349

—(349)

(3,662)

(2115)
(1,547)

13882

{s86)

986

2020
£'000

9,627

807

907

2,531
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XEINADIN GROUP LIMITED (REGISTERED NUMBER: 11354408)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

ASSETS

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Goodwill

Other intangible assets
Property, plant and equipment
Right-of-use assets

CURRENT ASSETS

Trade and other receivables
Contract assets

Cash and cash equivalents

TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade and other payables
Contract liabilitles

Lease liabllities

Loans and borrowings
Tax payable

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Laasa liabilities

Loans and borrowings
Deferred tax

TOTAL LIABILITIES

NET ASSETS

Notes

13
14
15
16, 21

17

18-

19

21
20

21
20
23

The notes form part of thesse financial statements

31 MAY 2021
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2021
£000

194,751
64,344
1,436

8,137

269,668

23,781
10,713

18,267

_52,761

322,429

19,944
3,331
1,800

603
2,892

28,570

7,795
975

14,538

23,308

51,878

270,551

2020
£000

204,021
78,559
1,685

9,656

293,821

23,887
10,288

16,143

50,318

344,139

23,315
2,214
2,082

646

3,905

32,162

7,793
976
13,928

22,606

continued...




XEINADIN GROUP LIMITED (REGISTERED NUMBER: 11354408)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION - continued

31 MAY 2021

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

Called up share capitel 24 . -
Share premium 25 113,113 113,113
Reverse acquislition reserve 25 (15) (15)
Retained earnings 25 3,659 5774
Total equity 118,757 118,872
Non-controlling interests 153,794 170,408
TOTAL EQUITY 270,851 289,281

The financlal, statements were approved by the Board of Directors and authorsed for Issue
on 1.5 INevedga . £821and were signed on its behalf by;,

S Nice - Director

. P
[l

The notes form part of these financial statements
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XEINADIN GROUP LIMITED (REGISTERED NUMBER: 11354408)
COMPANY STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

31 MAY 2021
2021 2020
Notes £'000 £'000
ASSETS
NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment 15 30 2
Investments 16 113,113 113,113
113,143 113,116
CURRENT ASSETS
Trade and other recelvables 17 806 279
Contract assets - 338
Cash and cash equivalents 18 : : 279 : 247
1,085 864
TOTAL ASSETS 114,228 113,979
LIABILITIES
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade and other payables 19 1,124 807
Loans and borrowings 20 - 49
Tax payable 1 1
1,125 867
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES .
Deferred tax 23 5 -
TOTAL LIABILITIES : : 1,130 857
NET ASSETS 113!098 1 13!122
SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Called up share capital 24 - -
Share premium 25 113,113 113,113
Retained earnings 25 (16) 9
TOTAL EQUITY 113,008 113,122

As permitted by Sectlon 408 of the Companles Act 2006, the income statement of the parent compeny Is not presented as
part of these financial statements. The parent company's loss for the financial year was £(23,188) (2020 - £6,441 profit).

The financial stataments _were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for Issue
on ... L& Moy el 201 and were signed on its behalf by:

The notes form part of these financial statements
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Balance at 315t May 2019

Changes in equity
Total comprshensive income

Total comprehensive income for the
Year

Issue of share capital
Dividends

Contributions by and distributions to
Owners

Business combinations
Balance at 31st May 202¢

Changes in equity
Total comprehensive loss

Total comprehensive loss for the
year

Issue of share capital
Dividends

Contributions by and distributions to
owners

Balance at 31st May 2021

XEINADIN GROUP LIMITED

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST MAY 2021

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Calied up Reverse

share Retained Share acquisition Non-controlling Total
capital earnings premium Reserve Total interests equity
£000 £'000 £'000 £000 £'000 £000 £'000

B s 8 . - .18

J5TT4 e {18) 5,759 4,760, .10.519

5774 B {5y 5,759 4,760 10.519

b - - s (12,018 {12,018)

- - - e (12.018) _412,018)

{18y M3y . . - 113.095 177,667 290,762,

. 5,774 13,143 (18 118,872 . 170,409 . 289.281

- - 2415 (1547 {3,662)

_ f2115) : : pug (s (e

_ . - - o 15,068) {15,068

3,669 113,113 {15) 116,757 153,794 270,551
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The notes form part of these financial statements



Balance at 1 June 2019
Changes in equity

Totel comprehensive income
Business combinations
Balance at 31 May 2020
Changes in eqdlty

Total comprehensive loss

Balance at 31 May 2021

XEINADIN GROUP LIMITED

COMPANY STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2021

Called up

share Retained Share Total
capital earnings premium equity
£'000 £000 £000 £000
- 3 - 3
- 6 - 6
- - 113,113 113,113
- ) 113,143 113,122

: 24 t {24)
sy 113,143, 113,098

The notes form part of these financlal statements
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XEINADIN GROUP LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2021

Cash flows from operating activities
Profit before taxation

Depreociation and amortlsation charges
(Profit)loss on disposal of fixed assets
Loss on disposal of subsidlaries
Finance costs

Finance income

Decreasel(Increase) in trade and other recelvables
Increase in contract assels

{Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables
Increase in contract liabilities

Interest paid
Lease Interest paid
Tax pald

Net cash generated from operating activitles

Cagh flows from investing activities

Purchase of trade and assets from business combinations
Purchase of tangible fixed assets

Purchaese of fixed asset investments

Sale of tangible fixed assets

Sale of fixed assst Investments

Net cash disposed of on loss of control of subsidiaries
Interest recelved

Net cash expended In investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities
New loans In year :
Loan repayments In year

Lease liability repayments in year
Amount withdrawn by directors
Dividends to non-controlling interests

Net cash expended In financing activities

Increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning
of year

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes

Cash and cash équivalents at end of year

The notes form part of these financlal statements
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2021
£'000

3,050
12,007
(7)
16,257
350
(9
31,648
(1,721)
{1,686)
(1,374)
1,117
27,984
(18)
(332)
(6,354)

21,280

592)

2020
£'000

13,991
12,497

13,093
317

(6)

39,902
(18,632)
(2,928)

12,540

803

31,687
J(23)
(294)

(2,639)

28,731




XEINADIN GROUP LIMITED

"COMPANY STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2021

2021
£'000
Cash flows from operating activities
{Loss)/prafit before taxation {18)
Dividend income {3,056)
(3,074)
. (Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables (528)
Decrease/(Increase) In contract assets 338
Increase In trade and other payables 318
Decrease in contract liabllities -
Tax paid -
Net cash (expandad in)/from operating activities 2,946
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of tanglble fixed assets (29)
Dividends received 3,056
Net cagh from Investing activities 3,027
Cash flows from financing actlvities
Loan repayments Ih year 49
Net cash from financing activities (49)
Increase In cash and cash equivalents 32
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning
of year 247
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 279

The notes form part of these financial statements
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XEINADIN GROUP LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2021

STATUTORY INFORMATION

Xeinadin Group Limited is a private company, limited by shares, registered in England and Wales. The company's
registered number and registered office address can be found on the General Information page.

Sections 479A and 479C subsldiary companies audit exemption: parent undertaking declaration of
guarantee

Xeinadin Group Limited, the parent company, has undertaken to guarantee all outstanding liabilities to which its
UK subsidiarles are subject to at the end of the financial year, ending on 31 May 2021. This guarantee applies until
a) they are satisfled in full, b) the guarantee is enforceable against the parent undertaking by any person to whom
the subsidiary is liable in respect of those liabilities and c) relates only to the year under guarantee.

The exemption applies to all UK subsidiaries listed in note 16.
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of preparation

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Accounting Standards in
conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006. The financlal statements have been prepared under
the historical.cost convention. .

The results of the Group are expressed in £ Sterling, which is the Group's presentational currency since the majority
of services, income, costs and underlying staff are dictated by the economic environment of the United Kingdom.
The policy on foreign currency on page 27 discusses the method by which subsidiaries in differing functional
currencies are converted into the presentational currency of £ sterling for the purposes of presenting the
consolidated financial statements. .

Basis of consolidation

The Group financial statements consolidate those of the Company and its Subsidlaries (together referred to as 'the
Group'). Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls an entity when It is exposed to, or
has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through
its power over the entity. In assessing control, the Group takes into consideration potential voting rights that are
currently. exercisable. The acquisition date Is the date on which control Is transferred to the acquiror. The financial
statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date that control
commences until the day that control ceases. Losses applicable to the non-controlling interests In a subsidiary are
allocated to the non-controlling interests even if doing so causes the non-controlling interests to have a deficit
balance. Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income and expenses arising from intra-group
transactions, are eliminated on consolidation. .

Reverse acquisition:
IFRS 3 applies to a transaction that meets the definition of a business combination l.e. a transaction in which an
acquirer obtains control of one or more business.

On 1 June 2019, Xeinadin Group Limited (XGL) via its 100% owned subsidiarias became the legal acquiror of part
of the issued share capital of 115 subsidiary companies based in United Kingdom and Republic of Ireland. The
share interests were obtained by means of a share for share exchange. XGL was.newly formed for the purpose of
bringing the group together. IFRS 3 App B paragraph B18 states if a new entity is formed to issue equity interests
to affect a business combination, one of the combining entities that existed prior to the business combination shall
be identified as the acquiror by using the guidance in paragraph B13 to B17. These include:

- Relative voting rights of each combined entity

- Existence of a single large minority interest

- Composition of the governing body of the combined entity

- Senior management of the combined entity

- Relative size

- Terms of exchange of the equity interest

Based on the above factors, Crowley & McCarthy Accountancy Limited ({CMC') has been identified as the
accounting acquiror. This is known as a reverse acquisition where XGL Issues the securities (legal acquiror) but is
identified as the acquiree for accounting purposes.

The combination of XGL and the other subsidlaries has been accounted for using the acqulsition method.

Whers a subsidiary Is sold or no longer under Group control, an element of the acquisition date goodwill, net of any
impairments, is included in determining the profit or loss on dlsposal
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XEINADIN GROUP LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - continued
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2021

ACCOUNTING POLICIES ~ continued

Going concern

The accounis are prepared on a golng concern basls as at the time of approving the financlal statements the
Directors having reassessed the principal risks and uncertainties have a reasonable expsctation that the Group
and company have adequate resources to continue In operational existence for the foreseeable future. In excess
of 90% of the Group revenues are recurring which underpins a strong trading performance. The Group Is cash
generative and Is financed by a combination of cash reserves and cash flow generated from trading. The costs of
the HQ function are billed to and pald by member firms. A key assumption in determining Going Concern Is that
substantially all the 102 firms consolidated within the forecast remain within the Group over the forecast periad.
The exit window Is now closed to all subsidiarles within the Group.

In the period since the pandemic arose and the UK & lreland entered lockdown at the end of March 2020, the
Group has sesn a relatively minor reduction in Revenues but overall has continued to trade profitably and cash
generation has remained strong. The Directors have considered a base case forecast to November 2022 which
excludes acqulsition spend or changes In Capital Structure and Funding. The resillance of the Group to a range of
possible downside scenarios was factored into the directors' considerations through stress testing the Forecast
with reductions In Revenue of 10% and 20% respectively. The Group demonstrated that it could withstand both a
materlal and prolonged- decrease In revenue and maintaln a positive cashflow. The Group continued to pay
Dividends under both scenarlos albelt at a reduced rate. In boih Scenarios thera was significant cash headroom
without taking any additional mitigating steps. Applying a reverse stress test which Identifies the break paint in the
Group's cash generation, Group revenues would nead fo fall by 31%. In the context of current trading conditions
and year to date performance against budget post-year-end, the Directors consider this to be an unlikely
eventuallty.

Accordingly, the Directors continue to adopt the going concarn basls in preparing the strateglc report, directors
report and accounts.

Revenue recagnition

Revenue Is measured as the fair value of consideration received or recelvable for saﬂsfylng performance
obligations contained In contracts with cllents, including expenses and disbursements but excludlng discounts and
Value Added Tax.

Variable consideration is included in the transaction price only to the extent that it is hlgh|y probable that a significant
reversal will not be required when the uncertainties determining the level of varlable consideration are subsequently
resolved. Revenue is recognised when or as the Group satlsfles performance obiigations by transior rlng control of
services to clients. This accurs as follows for the Group's varlous contract types:

Time-and-materials contracts are recognised over time as services are provided at the fee rate agreed with the
cllent where there Is an enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date.

Fixed-fee contracts are recognised over time based on the actual service provided to the end of the reporting period
as a proportion of the total services to be provided where there Is an enforceable right to payment for perférmance
completed to date. This is determined based on the actual inputs of time and expenses relative to total expecied
inputs.

Contingent-fea contracts, over and above any agreed minimum fee, are recognised at the point In time that the
contingent event occurs and thie Group has become entitied to the revenue .

Where contracts include multiple performance obligations, the transactlon price Is allocated to each parformance
obligation based on Its stand-alone selling price. Whera these are not direclly observable, they are sstimated based
on expected cost plus margin. Adjustiments are made to allocate discounts proportionately relative to the stand-
alone selling price of each performance obligation.

Estimates of revenues, costs or extent of progress toward completion are revised if clrcumstances change. Any
resulting Increases or decreases in estimated revenues or costs are reflected in the statement of profn or loss in
the perlod in which the circumstances that give rise to the revision become known,

For time-and-materials, fixed-fes and licance-fee contracts, fees are usually billed on account based on a payment
schedule.
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For performance-fee and contingent-fee contracts, fees are usually billed and pald when entitlement to the revenue
hag been established. If the revenue recognised by the Group exceeds the amounts billed, a contract asset s
recognised. If the amounts billed exceed the revenue recognised, a conlract llabllity Is recognised. Contract assets
are reclassified as recsivables when billed and the consideration has become unconditional beocause only the
passage of time is required before payment is due.

The Group's standard payment terms requlre seftiement of invoices within 30 days of retalpt.

The Group doss not adjust the transaction piices for the time value of money as it does not expect to have any
contracts where the period between the transfer of the promised services to the client and the payment by the cilent
exceeds one year.

Other income includes the recognition of government supported income from fts Coronavirus Job Retention
Scheme. Income Is recognised in the same- period as the corresponding employse costs.

Goodwit!

The acquisition method of accounting Is used to account for business combinations. Goodwill arises on acquisitions
and business combinations whare the fair value of the consideration glven exceeds the fair value of the separalely
Identifled assets and llabililies transferred. Associated costs are written off as incurred. Goodwill is capitalised as
an intangible asset with an indefinite life, with any impairment in carrying value béing charged to the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income.

The recoverable amount of the CGU has been determined based on value In use (VIU) calculations. The Group is
satisfled that no further impalrment provision was required agalnst the carrying value of the Group's goodwill at the
current or previous financlal year end. :

The use of the VIU method requires the estimation of future cash flows and the determination of a discount rate in
ordar to calculate the present value of the cash flows. The future cash flows used In the VIU caloulation are based
on financial budgels approved by management, based on prior year profit experlence and applled to'the five-year
period to May 2028, followed by a terminal value with the May 2026 annual cash flows extrapolated into perpetuity
at a long term growth rate. We have assumed a long term growth rate of 2%. The discounted rates used in the VIU
calculation are based on a post-tax estimated welghted average cost of capital and seperate rates have been
selected for UK, 10.75% (2020: 11%) and ROI, 10.560% (2020: 12%).

Other intanglble aseets

Client Relatlonships

Client Relationships acquired by the Group as part of a business combination are stated at cost (ess accumulated
amortisation and impairment losses (see previous note on Goodwill for method of calculating impairment losses).
Cost reflects management's judgement of the fair velue of the Individual Intangible asset calculated by reference
to the net present value of future benefit accruing to the Group from the utilisation of the asset discounted at the
appropriate discount rate.

Cllent relationshlps are amortised over @ perlod of 7 to 10 years based on the director's gstimate of useful life,

Brand Velue / Trade Name

The firms acquired have retained thair trading name due to the value of the brand In their specific market place.
These are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and Impairment losses. Cost for each acquisition Is
calculated In a similar manner to client relationshlps and reflects management's judgement on the fair value of the
assets.

Brand Value /Trade names are amortised over 5 to 10 years based on the directors' estimate of useful life.

Property, plant and equipment ) ’
Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.
Depreciation is provided at the following annual ratss in order to write off each asset over iis estimated useful life
or, if held under a finance lease, over the lease term, whichever is the shorter.”

Right of use assets - over the life of the lease
Fixtures and fittings -3 to 8 years
Compulers -3 to 8 years
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Financial instruments

i) Financial assels

Financial assets that meet the criteria raquired under IFRS9 to be held at amortised cost (being held for collection
and passing the test of comprising solely payments of principal and interest) include trade and other recelvables
and cash end bank balances. These ara Inltially recognised at transaction price. Such assets are subsequently
carrled at amortised cost using the effective Interest method. Financial assets measured at amortised cost Include
cash, trade debtors and other debtors.

Impalrment provisions for trade recelvables are assessed forimpalrment based on the simplifiad approached within
IFRSY using the lifetime expected credit losses. . During this process the probabllity of the nan-payment of the
trade recelvable is assessed. This probabliity is then multiplied by the amount of the expected loss arising from
default to determine the lifetime expected credlt loss for the trade recelvables. For trade receivables, which ars
reported net, such provisions are recorded In a separate provision account with the loss belng recognised within
administrative expenses In tha consolidated statement of comprehensive Income. On confirmation that the trade
recelvable will not be collectad, the gross carrying véluae of the asset Is written off agalnst the assoclated provision.
Detalls on credit loss calculations are included at note 17.

For other recelvables, at the end of each reporting perlod financial assets measured at amortlsed cost are assessed
for impalrment based on the general impairment model within IFRSE. If an asset Is impalred the Impairment loss
i the difference betwesn the carrying amount and the present vaiue of the estimated cash flows discounted at the
asset's original effective interest rate. The impalment loss Is recognised In profit or loss.

If there Is a decrease in the Impairment loss arlsing from an event occurring after the Impairment was recognised
the impairment Is revarsed. The reversal is such that the current carrying amount does not axceed what the
cairying amount would have been had the Impalrment not previously been recognlsed. The impairment reversal
is recognised in profit or loss.

Finaenclal assets are derscognised when (a) the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire or are
settled, or (b) substantially all the risks and rewards of the ownership of the asset are transferred to another party
or (¢} control of the asset has been transferred to another party who has the practical abliity to unilaterally sell the
asset to an unrelated third party without imposing additional restrictions.

ii) Financial liabilities :

Financlal liabllities are recognised at amortised cost as required under IFRS9 include trade and other payables,
overdraft and bank and other loans, and are Initially recognised at transaction price, unless the arrangement
constitutes a financing transaction, where the debt instrument is measured at the present value of the future
receipts discounted at & market rate of Interest. Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost Include overdrafts,
trade payables, other payablas and accruals. It does not Include other taxes and soclal securlty payable ar
contract liabllities.

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the ordinary course of
business from suppliers. Accounts payable are classified as current llabllities If payment Is due within one year. If
not, they are presented as non-current llabllities. Trade payables are recognised initially at transaction price and
subsequently measured at amortised cost uUsing the effectlve interest method.,

Financlal liabilittes are derecognised when the liabllity is extinguished, that Is when the ocontractual obligation is
discharged, cancelled or expiras.

Taxation

Tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises current and deferred tex. Tax is recognised in the statement of profit
or loss except to the axtent that it relates o items recognised directly In equity, in which case It is recognised in
equity.

Current tax Is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year, using tax rates
and laws enacted or substantively. enacted by the statement of financial position date, and any adjustment to tax
payable In respect of previous years.

Deferred tax 1s provided on temporary differances betwesn the carrying amounts of assets and liabiiitles for
financlal reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. The amount of deferred tex provided is
based on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of assets and liabllities, using
tax rates and laws enacted or substantivaly enacted at tha statament of financial position dats.
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A deferred tax asset Is recognised only to the extent that It s probable that future taxeble profits will be available
against which the temporary difference can be utilised. The following temporary differences are pot provided for:
the Initial recognition of goodwll, the initial recognition of assets or llebilities that affect neither accounting nor
taxable profit other than in a business combination.

Foreign currencies

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated Into sterling at the rate of exchange ruling at the date of
transaction. Exchange. differences are taken Info account in arriving at the operating result. Transactions in
currencles other than the functional currency of each operation are recorded at the rates of exchange prevalling on
the dates of the transactlons. At the date of each statement of financial position, monetary assets and liabllitles
that are denominated In farelgn currencles are retranslated at the rates prevalling at the dete of the statement of
financlal position. Gains and losses arising on retranslation are Included in the consolidated Income statement for
the year.

On consolidation, the assets and labllities of the Group's overseas operations are translated from thelr functional
currencles at exchange rates pravailing at the date of the statement of financlal position. Income and expense
[tems.are translated from their fuinctional currencles at the average exchanga rates for the year, which are materally
consistant with the spot rates observed In the year of those entities. Exchange differences arising are recognised
directly In equity and transferred to the Group's forelgn currency translation reserve via the other comprehensive
Income statement. If an overseas operation is disposed of the cumulative translallon dlﬁeranoes dre recognlsed
as realised Income or an expense in the year disposal occurs.

Goodwill and falr value adjustments arlsing on the acqulsition of a forelgn entity are treated as assets and liabllites
of the forelgn entity and translated at the closing exchange rate.

Leases

The Group assesses whether a contract Is a lease at the Inception of the contract, The Group recognises a right of
use asset and a lease llabllity for all lease arrangements except for short term leases and leases of low value
assets. For short term and low value leases the Group recognises the expsnse on a straight line basis over the
term of the lease.

Lease llabliitles are measured at the present value of the contractual payments due to the lessor over the Isase
term (excluding any adjustments related to any Inflation Index) with the discount rate determined by reference to
the rate inherent in the lease unless (as is typically the cese) this is not readily determinable, in which case the
Group's incremental borrawing rate on commencemeant of the lease is used.

On Inltial recognition, the carrying value of the lease liabllity also includes:

- amounts expacted to be payable under any residual value guarantes;

- the exercise price of any purchase option granted in favour-of the Group If It Is reasonably certain to exerclse
that option; and '

- any penalties payable for terminating the lease, if the term of the lease has been estimated on the basls of the
termination optlon belng exerclsed.

Rignt of use assets are Initlally measured at the amount of the lease llabllity, reduced for any lease Incantives
received, and Increased for:

- lease paymenis made at or before commencement of the leass;

- Initial direct costs incurred; and

- and the amount of any provision recognised where the Group is contractually required to dismantle, removs,
restora the leased asset.

Subsequent to initial measurement lease liabilitles increase as a resutt of Interest charge at a constant rate on the
balance outstanding and are reduced for lease payments made. RIght of use assats are emortised on a straight
iine basis over the remaining term of the lease. When the Group revises its estimate of the term of any lease
(because, for example, it re-assesses the probabllity of a lease exienslon or termination option belng exerclsed), it
adjusts the carrying amount of the lease Hability to reflect the remalning payments to be made over the revised
term, and reviews the discount rate applled to ensure It is still appropriate and will ad)ust if applicable: An
equivalent adjustment Is made to carrying value of the right to use asset, with the revised carrylng amount being
amortised over the remalning (revised) lease term.
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Employee benefit costs
The Group operates a number of defined contribution pension schemes. Contributions payable to the Group's
pension schemes are charged to the income statement in the period to which they relate.

Government grants

Government granis received on capital expenditure are generally deducted in arriving at the carrying amount of the
asset purchased. Granta for revenue expenditure are included in other operating income, which in the current year
relates to income recelved as a result of participation In the coronavirus job retention scheme, As such, the cost of
employment rslating to the Individuals pald under this scheme are recognised gross of the grant income recaived.
Where retention of a government grant Is dependent on the Group satisfying certain criteria, It Is initially recognised
as deferred income. When the criteria for retentlon have been satisfied, the deferred income balance is released
to the consolidated statement of comprehensive Income or netted agalnst the asset purchased.

Trade and other recelvables ’

Trade and other receivables where payment is due within one year do not constitute a financing transaction and
are recorded at the undiscovered amount expected to be received, less attributable transaction costs. Any
subsequent impalrmant Is recognised as an expense In the statement of profit or loss.

If payment is due after more than one year or if there is any other Indloation of a financing transaction, trade end
other receivables are recorded initially at falr value less attributable transaction costs. In this situation, fair value Is
equal to the amount expected to be recelved, discounted at a market-related Interest rate.

All trade and other recelvables are subsequently measured at amortised cost, net of impalrment,

Impairment and write-offs

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL (expected credit losses) for trade recelvables and contract assets, which
are eslimated using a provision matrix by reference to past default experience of the debtor and an analysls of the
dehtor's current financial position, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current as well as the forecast direction of condit!ons at the reporting date, Including
the time value of money where appropriate.

The Group writes off a recelvable when thers Is information Indicating that the debtor is In severe difflculty and
there ls no realistic prospect of recovery. Financial assets written off are stiil subject to enforcement activities. Any
recoveries made are recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

A provision is recognised In the stalement of fi nanclal position when the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation ‘as a result of a past event, and it is probable that an outflow of economic bensfits. will be required to
setile the obilgation. If the effect Is materlal, provisions are determinad by discounting the expected, risk adjusted,
future cash flows at a pre-tax risk-free rate.

Dilapidations provisions relate to the estimated cost to put leased premises back to the required condition expected
under the terms of the lease. These include provisions for required dilapidations along with provisions where
leasehold improvements have been made that would require reinstatement back to the original status on exit.
These are uncertain In timing as leases may be terminated early or extended. To the extent that exits of premises
are expected wnhm 12 months of the end of the year they are shown as current.

Professional Indemnity provisions relate to complaints against the Group that arise in the ordinary course of
business. The amount provided Is based on management's best estimate of the iikely liabllity and is recognlsed
under 1AS 37 gross of any insurance recovery assets.

Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty
Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experlence and other factors,
including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the clrcumstances.

In the application of the Group's accounting policies, management is required to make judgment estimates and
assumptions about carrylng values of assets and liabllities that are not readlly apparent from other sources. The
estimates and underlying assumptions are based on historical experlence and other factors that are considared to
be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates end underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revislons to accounting estimates

are recognised in the perlod In which the estimate Is revised if the revision affects the perlod, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.
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The key sources of estimation uncertalnty that have significant effact on the amounts recognised in the financlal
statements are described below:

a) Basis of Consolidation

The directors consider the share for share exchange between Xelnadin Professional Services Ireland Lid (XPSI)
and CMC Accountancy Limited (CMC) to be a reverse acquisition and CMC has been treated as the acquiror.
Further detalls on the basls of consolidation and how directors developed the most appropriate accounling policy
are outlined In the basls of consolidation within the accounting policy. note 2 and in note 16 of dealing with the
business comblination.

As regards subsidiary companies, an assessment of control under IFRS 10 was undertaken. IFRS 10 explains that
an investor controls an investes when it is exposed or has a right to varlable returns from its involvement with the
investee and has ability to direct those returns through Hs power over the investee.

In the case of tha UK subsidiarles, control Is assessed by Management as belng prevalent based on:

- A 51% shareholding In the investee by XUPSL of each entity;

- The ablllty to achleve majority Board representation by XGL as majority shareholder;

- The abllity to direct dividend policy of the Investee through the shareholding; and

- The abllity by XGL to direct the financial end operating performance of the investee through “step In" rights.

In the case of ROI subsldlaries XPS| holds an “A" ordinary share In each subsldiary which gives it power over the
appointment of the Board that controls the company and also XPSI Is entiled to a share of return over and above
-pre agreed levels of any dividend declared. Ali other conclusions remain the same as above (albeit with the ROI
subsidiaries, the non-controlling Interest Is effectively 100% of the entity's net assets due to the structure of the
ordinary shareholding).

All entlties In the Group were given opportunity to exit the Group during predstermined windows. 4 entitles avalled
themselves of this opportunity during the year ended 31 May 2020 and a further 9 during the year ended 31 May
2021 (ses note 16).

Management do not consider the presence of these exil windows fo affect their assessment of controt since all
entities were controlled up to the point of this exit option being exerclsed and therefore these events represent a
loss of control and hence are accounted for as such under the requirements of IFRS 10,

On this basis the Board has concluded that it controls these entities under IFRS 10,

b) Impaimment of Goodwill
The Group Is required to test, on an annual basis, whether goodwill has suffered any Impairment, as an indefinite
life asset. It does this by using a two-stage approach:

1. Allocating the cartying valua of Intangible asséts excluding goodwill to Individual cash generating units (CGU's)
and then comparing the carrying value of each CGU with Its recoverable amount.

2 By testing the Group of CGU's including the total carrying value of all intanglble assets including goodwill and
also recognising any Group impairment (See note 13 for further detalls).

In the opinlon of management, the level at which goodwill is monitored, together with the lowest identiflable
operating segment in FY21 and FY20 also being identifled as the Group as a whole (based on the fact that the
Chlef Operating Decislon Maker only receives information and makes resourcing/performance analysls decisions
at a Group level), means that the Impairment review for goodwill should be conducted at o level that includes the
whole Group.

Goodwill arising on business combinatlons Is not amortised. it Is statad at cost less impalrment value. The
assessment of any Impalrment requires management judgement with regards to identifying what are the CGU's,
deciding on how the goodwill on consolidation should be allocated for impairment and also estimating future
performance and using appropriate discount rates when calculating value in use. Note 13 of the financiat
statements sets out how the directors decided that it would not be possible to allocate Goodwill on a non-arblitrary
basis to individual CGU's and therefore a two-stage approach to calculating potential Impairment was followed. It
also sets out the various other key assumptions In preparing this impalrment review. .

Cashflow forecasts for value in use calculatlons are derlved from a bottom up budgeting approach which take into

account a combination of Internal and external factors based on past experlence. Howaver, expected cashflows
can be materially uncertain and llable to change over time.
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c) Ravenue Recognition

In determining the amount of reyenue to recognlse In refation to contract assets/llabilities management are required
to use judgement and estimates on the measurement of this Income In accordance with IFRS15. Detalls of these
assets/ltabilities are Inciuded at Note 3 of the financial statements. The valuation is based on an astimate of the
amount to be recovered/due fromfto clients for unbllied liems based on ime spent, the expertise and skills provided
and the stage of completion plus payment on account. The princlpal uncertalnty over this estimation is around the
amounts yet to be bllled or recognised by the client, The level of uncertainty Is reduced by the nature of Group
Income being almost all recurring Income where the client will hava an annual invoice and also that contingency
billing Is not @ materlal item for the Group.

d) Impairment of Trade Recelvables and Contract Assets

The Group makes an estimate of the recoverable value of frade recelvables and contract assets. The carrying
amount of trade receivables are held at selling price less lifetime estimated credit losses (ECL's). ECL's have been
estimated based on historic credit losses adjusted where appropriate for the incluslon of management judgement
to account for any forward looking information for specific clients.

Full detalls on Trade Receivables and Contract Assets are set out in Note 17,

@) Valuation of Acquired Intangible Assets in a business combination.
At 1 June 2018, the cost of Intanglble assets acquired under the falr view exercise performed by Management's
valuation expert, was £304.3m (£212.5m goodwill and £31.8m of other intanpibles).

The Group's intangible assets are Initially measured at fair value in accordance with IFRS3. On 1 June 2019 the
Group acquired 115 subsidlary companies in a share for share exchange. Full detalls of this are disclosed In note
16.

In estimating the fair value of the Intanglble essets, the Group engaged an external valuation spaciallst who
prepared a valuation et 1 June 2019 of cllent relationships, brands/trade name and goodwill arising on the business
combination.

A multiple approach was utilised to value the business based on lack of consblidated performance. Multiples were
derived for a peer group of suitable companles adjusted for slza and profilability as sultably appropriste.

Brand Assets were valued using a relief from royalty method and customer relations using a multi-excess earnings
method.

Due to the size and complex nature of the assessmant of the valuation of the Group on its combination on 1 June
2019, a number of assumptions have been made that are significant to the valuation of the Group and to which the
valuation is materially sensitive to small variances.

The key assumptions 10 the model and an assessment of the sensitivity within the model are as follows:

Assumption + change - change + [mpact on - Impacton
. valuation valuation
Allocation of member 20 firms moveup 20 firms move + £2m intangible -£2m intangible
firms Into 4 different a tier down a tier assets assots
tlars
Sensitivity of +0.5% on - 0.5% on multiple  + £2m intangible -£2m intangible
consideration and total  multiple assels assets

valuation of the Group
to market multiple

Woelghted average + 2.5% attrition - 2.5% attrition - £8m intangible + £10m intanglble
attrition rate rate rate assats assets
Customer relatlonships  + 0.2 years useful - 0.2 yearsuseful  + £2mintangibles left  Amortisation of £2m
useful sconomic life economic life economic life at end of existing of assets too quickly
: useful economic life by end of useful
economic life

During the year, the Group disposed of 9 subsidiaries from Xelnadin (note 16) and Incurred a loss on disposal on
losing control of these entities. Management have calculated a multiple that reduces the apportioned value applied
to these entitles to £9m (at the value of the multiple used at 1 June 2019, this would have been £14.7m), hence
reducing the loss on disposal by £4.8m.
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If a varlance of 1 x EBITDA were to happen in the underlying workings for calculating this loss on dlsposal, then
there would be a corresponding material increase/decrease in the loss an disposal accordingly:

- Increase in EBITDA multiple by 1 x: increase loss on disposal by £2.1m -
- Decrease In EBITDA muitiple by 1 x: decrease loss on disposal by £2.2m

Managemsnt are comfortable that sufficlent sources of information have been consuited from a varlety of data
points to ensure the calculation of £8m Is materially reasonable.

During the year, several firms left the Group as per note 16. Due to the complex nature of the clrcumstances
surroundlng the loss af control of the entitles, Management have had to estimate the date upon which control was
lost of several of the entities that left the Group. In making the Judgment as to the date that these entities departed
from the Group, Management have given regard to the documentatlon dates upon which control of the subsidlary's
shares was passed back 1o the Board, together with the dates on which Board approval was glven for these
subsldlaries to leave the Group and the nature and dates of correspondence received from subsidlarles requesting
to leave the Group

REVENUE
Geographica) analyslis of turnover
2021 2020
£000 £'000
United Kingdom . 81,240 83,484
Ireland . 21,911 26,123
Rest of Europe ) 329 223
Rest of World . 843 458
1 0@,1_23. . 410,289

Revenue from contracts with customers
The Group's turnover of £104.1m (2020 £110.3m) consists entirely of contract revenue from cllents. No single
customer represents more than 10% of revenue.

Practical expedients under IFRS 15
Under IFRS 15 companles are requlred to disclose the aggregate amount of the transaction price allocated to the
performance obfigations that are unsatisfied at the end of the accounting period.

Far most of the revenue contracts in Issuance the company has a right to conslderation from the customer in an
amount that corresponds directly with the value to the customer of the business performance completed to date.
Therefore, the. Group considers It is Impractical to estimate the potentlal value of unsafisfied performance
obligations and has elected to apply the practical expedlent available under IFRS 16. The Group also has no
material long term, fixed price contracts that exceed a year in length.

Contract balances

2021 2020
£'000 £'000

Recelvables included In “Trade and other recelvables” 20,201 20,414
Contract assets
Current

Contract assets 10,713 10,288
Contract liabilitles
Current

Contract llabllities ) 3,331 2,214

Contract assets

Contract assets, which are stated net of expected credit losses, relate to the unbllled work of the subsidiary
companies at the balance sheet date. It is expected that the majorily of the net value will be billed within the first
two months of the 2022 financial year. Of the amounts included as contract assets at 31 May 2020 £481k remained
unbliled at 31 May 2021 and its racoverabliity has been reassaessed.
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Contract liabilitles

Contract llabilities outstanding at the balance sheet date relate to the income recelved In advancs by the subsidiary
companies and It is expected that the income will be recognised as revenue during the first six months of the 2022
financlal year. :
OTHER OPERATING INCOME

Other operating income includes the following items

2021 2020

£'000 £'000

Crants recelved 1,872 713
Rent recaived 198 216
Sundry Income .. 404 - 373
2474 1,301

During the year, furlough grant monies of £5684k (2020 £215k) were received, and have been Included within “grants
received” above. The comresponding costs that these offset are Includad within the employment costs as per note 5.

EMPLOYEES AND DIRECTORS

Group Company
2021 2020 2021 2020
£000 £000 £'000 £'000
Wages and salarles 44,249 44,923 329 127
Soclal security costs 3,862 3,754 30 6
Other pension costs - 2,369 ) _1,429 . 4 ‘ -
50,580 ‘50.106 383 133

The average number of employees during the year was as follows:
Group Company
2021 2020 2021 2020
Directors 10 9 10 9
Advisory and support ... 1,455 __ 1,558 ) 2 1
1,465 1,665 12 ) 10
Group Company
2021 2020 2021 2020
£'000 £'000 £000 £'000
Direclors’ remuneration . 780 . .. 434 . .257 . 112

Directors' remuneration for the Group includes the total amount payable to the directors of the parent company
from all companies within the Group. The amount paid to the highest pald director was £154k (2020 £79k) Including
the impact of employer NIC, remuneration in the year for the Group's Key Management Personnel amounted to
£888k (2020: £494k) and for the company, £292k (2020: £127k). See note 29 for more Information on Key
Management Personnel.

LOSS ON DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

As set out In Note 16, 9 subsldiaries left the Group during the year ended 31 May 2021 (2020 4). These firms
jolned tha Group without any cash consideration being paid and also left the Group for no conslderation. The loss
on disposal comprises of the disposal of goodwill and intangible assels allocated to these subsidiares, together
with the profits of these firms that have been recognised since 1 June 2019. On leaving the Group the shares held
by Xelnadin UK Professional Services Ltd in the UK subsidiaries and by Xeinadin Professlonal Services (lreland)
Ltd In the ROI subsidlaries were converted into deferred shares and transferred back to the orlginal shareholders
at par value, The 1p members shares held in Xelnadin Group Ltd by the equity directors of the leaving subsidiaries
were converted Into deferred shares and transferred to Mr Derry Crowley (CEQ) at par value and are held in trust,
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FINANCIAL SETTLEMENT

The costs refate to an agreed settiement to a third party on 17 December 2020 in relation to the formation of the
Group on 1 June 2019. The cost of £3.1m compriges the full ssitlsment of £3m net of VAT and legal fees of £0.1m.

OPERATING PROFIT
Operating profit Is stated after charging/(crediting): 2021 2020
£000 £'000
Deapreciation - owned assets 459 488
Depreciation - leased assets 2,117 1,868
(Profit)loss on disposal of fixed assets (8} 10
Customer relationships amortisation 8,687 9,257
Brand amortisation 844 910
Fees payable to the group's external auditor for
the annual audit of the financlal statements 520 437
Fees payable to the group’s external auditor and its associates
for the annual audit of subsidlary company financlal statements 167 129
Other fees payable to the graup’s external auditor 22 22
Flnancial settlement 3,099 -
Loss on disposal of subsidiarles 16,257 13,093
NET FINANCE COSTS
2021 2020
£'000 £'000
Flnanoe income:
Depostt account Interest 9 -8
Finance costs:
Bank interest 11 4
Bank loan interest 7 19
Leasing 332 294
350 317
Net finance costs ) 341 311
TAXATION
Analysis of tax expense
2021 2020
£'000 £'000
Current tax: :
Tex 5,753 6,540
Deferred tax 610 (2,176)
Total tax expense in consolidated statement of proflt or Joss 6,383 4,364

Factors affecting the tax expanse
The tax @ssessed for the year is higher (2020-higher) than the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK. The
difference Is explained below:
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10, TAXATION - continued

2021 2020

. £000 £'000
Profit before taxation 3,050 13,991
Profit muitiplied by the standard rate of corporation tax In the UK of 19%
(2020 - 19%) 580 2,658
Effects of:
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 810 168
Other timing differences (255) (3)
Loss on disposal of subsidiarles 3,089 1,083
Difference In taxation rates In overseas subsidiaries (880) (442)
Uplift in rate applied to deferred tax to enacted rate of 25% 3,119 -
Tax expense 6,363 4,364

11. DIVIDENDS

Dividends pald during the year to non-controlling interests in subsidiary companies amounted to £16.1m (2020:
£12.0m).

12. EARNINGS PER SHARE

Baslc earnings per share is calculated by dividing the earnings atiributable to ordinary shareholders by the welghted
average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period.

Diluted earnings per shera Is calculaled usihg the welghted average number of shares adjusted to assume the
conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.

Reconclliations are set out below.

31.5.21
Weighted
average
number Per-share
Earnings of amount
£'000 shares . £
Basic EPS
Earnings altributable to ordinary shareholders (2,115) 2,145 (986)
Effect of dilutive securities . - - -
Diluted EPS
Adjusted earnings (2,115). . 2,145 {986)
31.5.20
Waeighted
average
number Per-share
Earnings of amount
£000 shares £
Basic EPS
Earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders 5,774 2,281 2,631
Effect of dilutive securities - - -
Diluted EPS
Adjusted earnings _ 5,774 2,281 2,631
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GOODWILL
Group

£'000
COST )
At 1 June 2020 204,021
Additions 592
Loss of control {9,862)
At 31 May 2021 194,751
NET BOOK VALUE
At 31 May 2021 194,751
At 31 May 2020 204,021
At 1 June 2019 v -

Impairment testing
Goodwill arising on business combinations Is not amortised but Is raviewed for Impairment on an annual basm or
more frequently If there are indications that goodwill may be impalred.

IAS 36 acknowledges that sometimes goodwill arising on business combinations cannot be allocated to indivldual
cash generating units (CGU's) on a non-arbitrary basis. The effect of this Is a two stage test where;

- The cerrying value of goodwill will not be allocated to the CCU's go at first stage the CGU will be tested for
impairment excluding goodwill and any impairment loss recognised;

- The second stage Involves testing the group of CGU's with the carrylng value of goodwill included in that group
of CGUs, The allocation of goodwill should reflect an allocation to CGU's, or group of CGU's, that reflects the group
which will benefit from the goodwill. For Impalrment review purposes, the allocation should reflect the level at which
management monitor goodwill buf should not exceed the size of the operating segment. Any impalrment s then
recognised. The level at which goodwill is allocated Is at Group level. The directors are satisfled that this represents
the lowest level at which the goodwill Is monitored for intemal management purposes and is not larger than an
operating segment. The directors believe that the Group operates as one operating segment, based on the nature
of reporting recelved by the Chief Operating Decision Maker in the year ended 31 May 2021.

The recoverable amount is based on the present value of expected future cash flows ((/alue' in use) which was
determined to he higher than the carrying amount so no impairment loss was recognised. Management have
considered the likely iImpact of the Covid-19 pandemic on future cash flows In their assessment of .impairment.

Cash flow forecasts were based on financial budgets approved by Management covérlng a flve-year period. Value
in use was determined by dlscounting the future cash flows generated from the continuing operation of the Group
and at each CGU and was based on the following kay assumptions:

Based on FY21 actuals, Management's model bullds In @ 6 year Compound Annual Growth Rate (hereafter
"CAGR") for revenue of 6.1%. Assuming 0.0% revenus growth over the next 5 years, with-no change to underlying
margins, there would stlll be c. £27m headroom. A negative CAGR of -2.2% over the next § years would be required
In order for an Impairment to be incurred, again assuming a constant margin over the 6 year perlod.

Management's model conservatively assumes team staff costs Increase In line with revanue CAGR of 4.0%. A
1.0% reduction in the CAGR to 3.0% this would generate £6.9m of headroom. Management could also'look to
reduce senlor staff costs and other overheads as further mitigating actions.

A post-lax discount rate of between 10.75% and 10.50 % was applled to each firm based on locetion in determining
the recoverable amount. A post-tax rate of 10.75% (2020 11.0%) was applled to the UK CGU's (13.3% pre-tax)
and 10.50% (2020 12.0%) to the Irish CGU's (12.0% pre-tax). The discount rate Is based on the Group's average
post-tax welghted cost of capital of 10.7% (2020 11.2%).

An absolute increase of 3.4% in post-tax welghted cost of capltal would lead to thg breakeven point in the model.
The values assigned to the key assumptions represent management's estimate of expected future trends and are
based on boih external (industry experlence, historlc market performance and cument estimates of risk assaclatad

with trading conditions) and internal sources (existing management knowledge, track record and in-depth
undersianding of the work types being performed).
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GOODWILL - continued

Increases in costs are based on current inflation rates and expected levels of recruitment needad to generate
predicted revenue growth.

Attritlon rates are based on the historic experience and trends of client activity over a thres to five-year period and
applled to future fee forecasts.

Cash flows have bean typically assessed over a five-year period. After yoar 5, management extrapolates using a
terminal value calculation based on an estimated growth rate of 2%. This Is based on long-term inflation
expeciations for the UK and Ireland.

The Group has conducted a sensitivity analysis on the impairment test of the CGU carrying velue. The directors
believe that any reasonable change in the key assumptions would not cause the aggregate carrying amount to
excsed the aggregate recoverable amount of the CGU, based on the abliity of management to perform cost saving
acllons In response to potential reduction In revenue thet may occur In the short term,

Sensitivities ’ '

The Group attributes a monetary value to the acquired goodwill based primarily on the anticlpated future cash flows
generated by the customers, Whilst the Group accounts for customer's attrition and direct costs the maln driver
of this value Is the estimated revenue resuiting from the customers of the Group. Management have estimated a
year on year growth rate which has been applled to the model.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Group
Customer
relationships Brand Totals
£'000 £'000 £000

COST
At 1 June 2020 80,500 7,950 88,450
Loss of control {5,300) {380) (5,880)
At 31 May. 2021 75,200 7,570 82,770
AMORTISATION
At 1 June 2020 9,012 879 9,891
Amortisation for year 8,687 844 9,431
Loss of cantrol (835) {81) {888) -
At 31 May 2021 16,764 1,662 18,426
NET BOOK VALUE
At 31 May 2021 58!436 5!908 64;344
At 31 May 2020 © 71,488 7071 78,559
At 1 June 2019 - - -

The cost Is based on an independent value prepared on behalf of the directors for the 116 firms acquired on 1 June
2019.

Client Relatlonships:

The client relationships were acquired as part of the consolidation which occurred on 1 June 2019, This represents
the value attributed to clients who provide repeat business to the Group on the strength of these relationships.
Customer relationships are amortised on a straight line basis over a8 7-10 year perlod from 1 June 2019 which
means two years have been amortised to date.

Brand/Trade Names:

The brand/trade names were acquired as part of the consolldatlon which took place on 1 June 2019. Member firm
brands/trade names are assaociated with factors such as a high quality service and trusted advice. Brandftrade
names are amortised on a straight line basls over a 6-10 year period from 1 June 2019 which means two years
have been amortised to date.

The Group had the following Intangibie assets that were Individually material at the year-end date of 31 May 2021.
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INTANGIBLE ASSETS - continued

Agset - customer relationships

Tynan Dilfon Advisers Limited

Tish Lelbovitch Limited

Tish Press & Company KGE Limited
Willlams Glles Professional Services Limited
Cobham Murphy PHD Limited

Hallidays Group Limited .

Kay Johnson Gee CR Limited

McLIntocks (NW) Limited

O'Brlen & Partners KVE Limited

Philfip Carroll Limited

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Group

COST

At1 June 2020
Additions

Loss of control

Exchange differences

At 31 May 2021

DEPRECIATION

At 1 June 2020
Charge for year

Loss of contro!
Exchange differences

At 31 May 2021

NET BOOK VALUE
At 31 May 2021

At 31 May 2020

At 1 June 2019

Net book value
2021 Years
£:000
2,000
1,800
2,560
1,840
4,160
2,280
2,120
1,960
2,240
2,120
Fixtures
and Motor
fittings vehicles
£000 £'000
768 61
187 40
(204) (61)
{16) 3
735 37
162 19
130 8
(51) (24)
) 1
234 2
501 35
42

606
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Remalning useful
economic life

Years
8
8
8
8
8
8
8
8
8
8
Computer Sub
equipment total
£000 £'000
1,220 2,048
339 566
(87) (352)
(11 {30)
1,461 2,233
283 4684
321 459
(25) {100)
(18) {26)
561 797
900 1,436
937 1,585
continued...
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XEINADIN GROUP LIMITED

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT - continued

COST

At 1 June 2020
Addllions

Loss of control
Exchange differences

At 31 May 2021
DEPRECIATION

At 1 June 2020
Charge for year

Loss of contro!
Exchange differences

At 31 May 2021

NET BOOK VALUE
At 31 May 2021

At 31 May 2020
At 1 June 2019

Company

COST

Al 31 May 2020
Additions

At 31 May 2021
DEPRECIATION
At 31 May 2020
Chargs for the year
At 31 May 2021

NET BOOK VALUE
At 31 May 2021

At 31 May 2020

At 1 June 2019
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Right of

use Grand

assets total

£'000 £'000

11,520 18,569

2,165 2,731
(1,007) (1,359)
(103) (133)

12,875 14,808
1,864 2,328
2,417 2,576
(315) {415)
(228) (254)
3438 4,235
9,187 10,573

9,656 11,241
Computer
equipmant

£000

2

29

31

—_—

S |

30

2
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INVESTMENTS
Company
Shares in
group
undertakings
£'000

COST
At 1 June 2020
and 31 May 2021 113,113
NET BOOK VALUE
At 31 May 2021 113,113
At 31 May 2020 113,113
At 1 June 2019 .

The group or the company’s invesiments at the Statement of Financlal Posltion date in the share capita! of
companies include the following:

Subsidiaries

Xelnadin UK Professlonal Services Limited

8th Floor Becket House, 36 Old Jewry, London, EC2R 8DD
Nature of business: Holding Company

Proportion of voting rights, ordinary share capltal held 100%

Xeinadin UK Partnerships Limited

81h Floor Becket House, 36 Old Jewry, London, EC2R 8DD

Nature of business: Dormant Company

Proportion of voting rights, ordinary share capital held 100%

The company Is exempt from audit under S480 Dormancy Regulations of the Companies Act 2006

INVESTMENTS - continued

Xeinadin Professional Services (Ireland) Limited

6th Floor South Bank House, Barrow Street, Dublin, 4
Nature of business: Holding Company

Proportion of voting rights, ordinary share capltal held 100%

On 1 June 2019, Xeinadin UK Professional Services Limited ('XUPSL') acquired 51% of the share capttal of the
new UK subsidiaries of Xelnadin Group Limited ('XGL') (a listing of which ls shown below).

The consideration issued by XUPSL for these shares was shares Issued in XGL to the equity holders of the new
UK Subsldlaries. Since XGL issued these shares on bhehalf of XUPSL, this has been accountad for as an
additionel Investment inte XUPSL hy XGL, equlvalent to the fair value of the controlling shareholding obtained by
XUPSL within the new UK subsidiaries.

The Group or the company's investments at the Statement of Financlial Position date in the share cepital of
companles Include the following:

UK subsidiaries
A B G Accountancy 2018 Ltd {11238661)
The Quadrant Centre, Limas Road, Weybrdge, Surrey, England, KT13 8DH

Nature of business: Professional services
Proportlon of voting rights, ordinary share capital held 51%
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INVESTMENTS - continued

Accountax 2018 Ltd (11239739)

Maple House, Larch Avenue, Sunninghill, Berkshire, England, SL6 0AW
Nature of business: Professional services

Proportion of voting rights, ordinary share capltal held 51%

Accounting & Taxation Centre BTD Ltd (11453188)

36 Queens Road, Newbury, Berkshire, England, RG20 9EZ
Nature of business: Professional services

Proportion of voting rights, ordinary share capital held 51%

Anthistle Craven IRX Ltd (11415048)

‘Moreton House, 31 High Street, Buckingham, Buckinghamshire, England, MK18 1NU

Nature of business: Professional services
Proportion of voting rights, ordinary share capital held 51%

ARA (Bristol) Ltd (11420396)

86 Shirehampton Road, Stoke Bishop, Bristol, England, BS8 2DR
Nature of business: Professional services

Proportion of voting rights, ordinary share capltal held 61%

Arithma Accountants Ltd (11848732)

9 Mansfield Street, London, England, W1G 9NY

Nature of business: Professlonal services

Proportion of voting rights, ordinary share capital held §1%

Arlington Accountants Ltd (11833878)

7 Hocombe Road, Chandlers Ford, Eastleigh, Hampshire, England, SO53 6SL
Nature of business: Professlonal services

Proportion of voting rights, ordinary share capital held 51%

ASC Wylie UBU Ltd (N1652973)

7 Lisburn Straet, Hillsborough, Co. Down, Northern Ireland, BT26 6AB
Nature of business: Professional services

Proportion of voting rights, ordinary share capital held 51%

BarTax Accountants WFC Ltd (11295502)

2Rose Bank, Bollington, Cheshire, Englend, SK10 §JA
Nature of business: Professlonal services

Proportion of voting rights, ordinary share capital held 61%

Bennewith 2018 Ltd (11241883)

Ynot House 3 Wey Court, Mary Road, Guildford, Surrey, England, GU1 4QU
Nature of business: Professional services

Proportion of voting rights, ordinary share capltal held §1%

Bespoke Accounting 2018 Ltd (11903588)

2-4 Ash Lane Rustington, Litlehampton, Waest Sussex, England, BN16 3BZ
Nature of business: Professlonal services

Proportion of voting rights, ordinary share capltal held 51%

Bowker Orford Ltd (11644565)

16/19 Cavendish Piace, London, England, W1G 0DD
Nature of business: Professlonal services

Proportion of voling rights, ordinary share capital held 61%

BRC Accountants PKL Ltd (11318648)

Aldwych House, Winchester Street, Andover, Hampshire, England, SP10 2EA
Nature of business: Professlonal services

Proportion of vating rights, ordinary share capital held 51%

Bushells Accountants 2018 Ltd (11240948)

6 Victoria Avenue, Harrogate, Yorkshire, England, HG1 1ED
Nature of business: Professlonal services

Proportlon of voting rights, ordinary share capital held 51%
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INVESTMENTS - continued

Calcutt Matthews WBZ Ltd (11375532)

19 North Street, Ashford, Kent, England, TN24 8LF

Nature of business: Professional services

Proportion of voting rights, ordinary share caplital held 51%

Centurion VAT Spaclalists ALL Ltd (11847751)

Mérin House, 1 Langstone Business Park, Newport, Gwent, Wales, NP18 2HJ
Nature of business: Professional services

Proportion of voting rights, ordinary shere capital held 61%

Chhaya Hare Wilson CML Ltd (11287857)

Transport House, Uxbridge Road, Hillingdon, Middlesex, England, UB10 OLY
Nature of business: Professional services

Proportion of voting rights, ordinary share capltal held 51%

CMS Accountants 2020 Ltd (11884345)

61 Bryn Street, Wigan, Greater Manchester, England, WN4 9AX
Nature of business: Professional services

Proportion of voling rights, ordinary share captal held 51%

Cobham Murphy PHD Ltd (11905373)

116 Duke Stresl, Liverpool, England, L1 5JW

Nature of business: Professional services

Proportion of voting rights, ordinary share capital held 51%

David Jonos & Co 2018 Ltd (11239617)

19 Reading Road, Pangbourne, Berkshire, England, RG8 7LR
Nature of business: Professional services :
Proportion of voting rights, ordinary share caplial held 51%

Davies McLennon Ltd (11419828)

93 Wellington Road North, Stockport, Cheshire, England, SK4 2LR
‘Nature of business: Professional services

Proportion of voting rights, ordinary share capiial held 51%

DJM Accountants BLJ Ltd (11266150)

4 Stirling Court Yard, Stiring Way, Borehamwood, Hertfordshire, England, WD6 2FX
Nature of business: Professional services

Proportion of voting rights, ordinary share capital held 51%

Egan Roberts Ltd (11410949)
Unit 46 Manor Court, Salesbury Hall Road, Ribchester, Lancashire, England, PR3 3XR
Nature of business: Professlonal services

_Proportlon of voting rights, ordinary share capital held 51%

Elman Wall Ltd {11546262)

8th Floor Becket House, 36 Old Jewry, London, England, EC2R 8DD
Nature of business: Professional services -

Proportion of voting rights, ordinary share capital held 51%

Fallows & Company CA Ltd (11266080)

Archway House, 81-82 Portsmouth Road, Surbiton, Surrey, England, KT6 6PT
Nature of business: Professional services

Propariion of voting rights, ordinary share capital held 51%

FD Professlonal Services Ltd (11831592)

107-109 Towngate, Leyland, Lancashire, England, PR26 2LQ
Nature of business: Professlonal services

Proportion of voting rights, ordinary share capital held 51%

Fooks & Co 2018 Ltd (11238647)

14 High Street, Bargoed, Caerphilly, Wales, CF81 8RA
Nature of business: Professional services

Proporttion of voting rights, ordinary share capital held 51%
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INVESTMENTS - continued

Hugh Davies & Co LIO Ltd (11295487)

35 Chequers Court Brown Street, Salisbury, Wiltshire, England, SP1 2AS
Nature of business: Profassional services

Proporiion of voting rights, ordinary share capital held 51%

JW Waish Accountants 2018 Ltd (11241662)

Albion House, 163-167 King Street, Dukinfleld, Cheshire, England, SK16 4LF
Nature of business: Professional services

Proportion of voting rights, ordinary share-capital held 51%

Kay Johnson Gee Ltd (11415126)

1 City Road, Manchester, England, M16 4PN

Nature of business: Professional services

Proportion of voting rights, ordinary share capltal held 61%

Kay Johnson Gee CR Ltd (11415156) !
1 Cliy Road, Manchester, England, M16 4PN "
Nature of business: Corporate recovery services

Proportion of voling rights, ordinary share capital held §1%

Lee Accountlng Services 2018 Ltd (11241654)

26 High Street, Rickmansworth, Hertfordshire, England, WD3 1ER
Nature of business: Professlonal services

Proportion of voting rights, ordinary share capital held 51%

Lewis Ballard BBB Ltd (11845798)

Celtic House Caxton Place, Pentwyn, Cardiff, Vale Of Glamorgan, Wales, CF23 8HA
Nature of business: Professlonal services

Proportion of voting rights, ordinary share capital held 61%

Lucentum Business Services Ltd (11343916)
Kingfisher Housse, 11 Hoffmanns Way, Chelmsford, Essex, England, CM1 1GU .
Nature of business: Professional services

Proportion of voting rights, ordinary share caplital held 61%

Marlow Proactive Ltd {(11405556)

14 Phoenix Park Teiford Way, Coalvlile, Leicestershire, England, LE67 3HB
Nature of business: Professional services

Proportion of voting rights, ordinary share capital held 51%

McGregors CCP Ltd (11385000)

12 Mansfield Office Suite 0.3, Hamilton Court, Mansfleld, Nottinghamshire, England, NG18 6FB
Nature of business: Professional services

Proportion of voting rights, ordinary share capital held §1%

Mckenzies ATS Ltd (11410805) *

2 Station Road West, Oxted, Surrey, England, RH8 9EP

Nature of business: Professional services

Proportion of-voting rights, ordinary share capital held 51% 3
i

McLintocks (NW) Ltd (11836795)

2 Hilliards Court, Chester Business Park, Chester, Cheshire, England, CH4 9PX
Nalure of business: Profassional services .

Proportion of voting rights, ordinary share capital held 51%

McManus Willlams KGG Ltd (11404526)

Suite 2 Bellevue Mansions, 18-22 Bellevue Road, Clevedon, Somerset, England, BS21 7NU
Nature of business: Professional services

Proportion of voting rights, ordinery share capital held 51%

Meranther Ltd (11319655)

1 Strands Barn Strands Farm Lane, Hornby, Lancaster, Lancashire, England, LA2 8JF
Nature of business: Professlonal services

Proportion of voting rights, ordinary share capital held 51%
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INVESTMENTS ~ continued

Foster Mann (UK) Limited (11833403)

Unlt 269 Springfleld Commerclal Centre, Bagley Lane, Farsley, Leads, England, LS28 6LY
Nature of business: Profegslonal services

Proportlon of voting rights, ordinary.share capltal held 51%

GCSD Accountants Ltd (11457078)

701 Stonehouse Park Sperry Way, Stonehousa, Gloucestershire, England, GL10 3UT
Nature of business: Professional services

Proportion of voting rights, ordinary share capital held 51%

Gray & Co DAN Ltd (11266924)

Springvale, Police Station Square, Mildenhali, Suffolk, England, P28 7ER
Nature of business; Professional services

Proporiion of voting rights, ordinary shars capital held 51%

GW Jones & Co ICJ Ltd (11458079)

Office 1 The Coach House 24-26 Statlon Road, Shirehampton, Bristol, England, BS11 9TX
Nature of business: Profassional services

Proportion of voting rights, ordinary share capital held §1%

Hallidays Group Ltd (11380661)
Rlverside House Kings Reach Business Park, Yew Street, Stockpori, Cheshire, England, SK4 2HD
Nature of business: Professional services

Proportion of voting rights, ordinary share capital hald 61%

Harvey Smith & Co DVQ Ltd (11356850)

67 Latchingdon Road, Cold Norton, Essex, England, CM3 6HT
Nature of business: Professional services

Proporlion of voting rights, ordinery share capltal held 51%

Heylands Limited (11830385)

The Old Grange Warren Estate, Lordship Road, erttle, Essox, England, CM1 3WT
Nature of buslness: Professionai services

Proportion of voting rights, ordinary share capital held 61%

Hills Jarrett TXS Ltd (11357076)

Gainsborough House, Sheering Lower Road, Sawbridgeworth, Hertfordshire, England, CM21 9RG
Nature of business: Professlonal services

Proportion of voting rights, ordinary share capital held 51%

MG Accountants SW Ltd (11846532)

6 Palk Street, Torquay, Devon, England, TQ2 6EL

Nature of buslness: Professional services

Proportion of voting rights, ordinary share cepltal held 61%

MMP Accounting Solutions Ltd (11842382)

3 Queen Strest, Ashford, Kent, England, TN23 1RF
Nature of business: Professlonal services

Proportion of voting rights, ordinary share capital held 51%

Murray Associates ZKI Ltd (SC594767)

Murray Assoclates Accountants Ltd Business First, Linwood Polint, Palsley, Renfrewshire, Scotland, PA1 2FB
Nature of business: Professional services
Proportion of voting rights, ordinary share capital held 51%

Newsham Hanson Accountants Ltd (11838807)

Edinburgh House, 1-5 Bellevue Road, Clevedon, Somerset, England, BS21 7NP
Nature of business: Professional services '
Praportian of voting righls, ordinary share capltal held 51%

Nickalls Accountants Ltd (11834183)

4 Bridge Street, Amble, Morpeth, Northumberland, England, NEGS O0DR
Nature of business: Professional services

Proportlon of voting rights, ordinary share capital held 61%
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O'Brien & Partners KVE Ltd (11453265)

Highdale House, 7 Centre Court Maln Avenue, Treforest Ind Est, Pontypridd, Wales, CF37 5YR -

Nature of business: Professional services
Proportion of voting rights, ordinary share capital held 51%

Palason Ltd (11459439)

72 Great Sufiolk Straet, London, England, SE1 0BL
Nature of business: Professlonal services

Proportion of voting rights, ordinary share capital held 51%

Paul & Co {Accountants) Ltd (11267804)

8 Freetrade House, Lowther Road, Stanmors, Middlesex, England, HA7 1EP
Nature of business: Profesgional services -

Proportlon of voting rights, ordinary share capital held 51%

Pelham Accountants 2018 Ltd (11806481)

16 Dudley Street, Grimsby, Lincoinshire, England, DN31 2A8
Nature of business: Professional services

Propartion of voting rights, ordinary share capltal held 51%

Phillip Carroll Ltd (11404925)

10 Ambassador Place Stockport Road, Altrincham, Chashire, England, WA15 8DB
Nature of business: Professlonal services

Proportion of voting rights, ordinary share cepltal held 51%

Riley Moss 2018 Ltd {11242309)

Riley House, 183-185 North Road, Preston, Lancashire, England, PR1 1YQ
Nature of business: Professlonal services

Proportion of voting rights, ordinary share capital held 61%

RJG Accountants AKH Ltd (11268144)
10 East Street, Fareham, Hampshire, England, PO16 0BN
Nature of business: Professional services
Proportion of voting rights, ordinary share capital held 51%

Robinson Sterling SBU Ltd (11281848)

616d Green Lane, llford, Essex, England, {53 9SE

Nature of business: Professional services

Proportion of voting rights, ordinary share capital held §1%

Rohans MJF Ltd (11295452)

Rohans House, 92-96 Waellington Road South, Stockport, Greater Manchester, England, SK1 3TJ
Nature of business: Professional services

Proportion of voting rights, ardinary share capltal held 51%

Romsey Accountants GDT Ltd {11280977)

Unit 3, Shelley Farm Shelley Lane, Ower, Romsey, Hampshire, England, SO51 6AS
Nature of business: Professlonal services

Proportion of voting rights, ordinary share oapital held 61%

See Beyond The Numbers Ltd (11506375)

St Andrews House Yale Business Village, Eliice Way, Wrexham, Wales, LL13 7YL
Nature of business: Professlonal services

Proportion of voting rights, ordinary share capital hefd 61%

Sole Assoclates SVR Ltd (11344101)

3 Park Court, Pyrford Road, West Byfiset, Surrey, England, KT14 6SD
Nature of business: Professional services

Proportlon of voting rights, ordinary share capital held 51%

Stead Rabinson HGA Ltd (11378203)

Riddle Pit Farm Penistone Road, Hepworth, Holmfirth, West Yorkshire, England, HD9 2TR
Nature of business: Professional services

Proportion of voting rights, ordinary share capltal held 51%
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Stewart Glimour & Go. Ltd (SC600202)

24 Baresford Terrace, Ayr, Scotland, KA7 2EG

Nature of business: Professlonal services

Proportion of voting rights, ordinary share capital held §1%

Styles & Co JFC Ltd {11266079)

Heather House 473 Warrington Road, Culcheth, Warrington, Cheshire, England, WA3 5QU
Nature of business: Professional services

Proportion of voting rights, ordinary share capital held 51%

The Profit Key 2018 Ltd (11239127)

10 Lower Church Street, Ashby De La Zouch, Leicestershire, England, LE65 1AB
Nature of husiness: Professional services

Proportion of voting rights, ordinary share capital held 51%

THP Glasgow Ltd (SC596861)

140 Baltic Chambers 50 Wellington Street, Glasgow, Scotland, G2 6HJ
Nature of business: Professional services

Proportion of voting rights, ordinary share capital held 1%

Tish Leibovitch Ltd (11266262)

249 Cranbrook Road, liford, Essex, England, 1G1 4TG
Nature of business: Professional services

Proportion of voting rights, ordinary share capital held 51%

Tish Press & Company KGE Ltd (11266092)

27 Cambridge Park, Wanstead, London, England, E11 2PU
Nature of business: Professional services

Proportion of voting rights, ordinary share capital held 51%

Tony Jacques YDD Ltd (11404789)

Kingfisher House, 140 Nottingham Road, Long Eaton, Nottinghamshire, England, NG10 2EN
Nature of business: Professional services

Proportion of voting rights, ordinary share capital held 51%

TSH Professional Services Ltd (11447478)

89 High Street, Thame, Oxfordshire, England, OX9 3EH
Nature of business: Professlonal services

Proportion of voting rights, ordinary share capital held 51%

Tudor John Ltd (11410130)

Nightingale House, 46/48 East Street, Epsom, Surrey, England, KT17 1HQ
Nature of business: Professlonal services

Proportion of voting rights, ordinary share capital held 51%

Weaver Wroot Ltd (11238991)

Burlington House, 28 Dudley Street, Grimsby, Lincolnshire, England, DN31 2AB
Nature of business: Professlonal services

Proportion of votlng rights, ordinary share capital held 51%

Willlams Giles Professional Services Ltd (11411023)

12 Conqueror Court, Sittingbourmnse, Kent, England, ME10 5BH
Nature of business: Professional services

Proportion of voling rights, ordinary share capital held 51%

Wilshers DEJ Ltd (11943231)

10 Heathfield Terrace, Chiswick, London, England, W4 4JE
Nature of business: Professional services

Proportion of voting rights, ordinary share capitel held 51%

Wren Professional Services Ltd (11832732)

4 Cross Street, Beeston, Nottingham, Nottinghamshire, England, NGQ 2NX
Nature of business: Professional services

Proportion of voting rights, ordinary share capital held 51%
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Xebra Accounting tHC Ltd (11425351)

5 Funtley Count, Funtley Hill, Fareham, Hampshire, England, PO16 7UY
Nature of buslness: Professional services

Proportion of voting rights, ordinary share capital held 51%

Xynamo 5 Ltd (11241218)

14 South Way, Newhaven, East Sussex, England, BNQ oLL
Nature of business: Professlonal services

Proportion of voting rights, ordinary share capital held 51%

Republic of Ireland subsidiaries

BCC Accountants Ltd

Dublin Road, Ashbourne, Co. Meath, Ireland
Nature of business: Professlonal services
Proportion of voting rights 100%

Camden Accounting Limited

Olympic House, Pleasants Strest, Dublin 8, lreland, DOBHB7X
Nature of business: Professlonal gervices

Proportion of voting rights 100%

Coyne Accountancy Galway Limited

The Halls, Quay Street, Galway, Ireland

Nature of business: Profassional services
Proportion of voting rights 100%

Cregan Accounting Ltd

Broadmeadow Hall, Applewoad Village, Swords, Co. Dublin, Ireland
Nature of business: Professional services

Proportion of voting rights 160%

Crowley & McCarthy Accountancy Limited

Unit G West Cork Technalogy Park, Clonakiity, Co. Cork, Ireland
Nature of business: Professtonal services

Proportion of voting rights 100%

Delog Ltd

Lacken House, Dublin Road, Klikenny, Ireland, R96 KF34
Nature of business: Professional services

Proportlon of voting rights 100%

DFS & Co Accounting Limited

Innovation House, Ballybrit Business Park, Ballybrit, Co. Galway, Ireland
Nature of business: Professional services

Proportion of voting rights 100%

DMN Accountants Ltd

Unit A4, Block A, Santry Business Park, Santry, Dublin 9, Ireland, D09 P2Y4
Nature of business: Professional services

Proportion of vating rights 100% _

FCQOS Financlal Services Outsourcing Ltd

Unit G West Cork Technology Park, Clonaklity, Co. Cork, Ireland
Nature of business: Professional services

Proportion of voting rights 100%

JWM Accountants Ltd

13 14 South Main Street, NAAS, Co. Kildare, lreland
Nature of business: Professional services
Proportion of voting rights 100%
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Ken Harbert & Co. Ltd

jvydene House, Dublin Street, Klldare Town, Co. Klldare, Ireland
Nature of business: Profaessional services

Proportion of voting rights 100%

Kinsella Mitchell and Assoclates Ltd

Finance House, 46 Prussia Street, Dublin 7, ireland, D07 VWOY
Nature of business: Professional services

Proportion of voting rights 100%

LHB Accounting Limited

93 Malahlde Road, Clontarf, Dublin 3, Ireland
Nature of business: Professional services
Proportion of voting rights 100%

Manus Brady Accountancy Services Ltd

Block A, Cashsel Business Centre, Cashel Road, Dublin 12, Ireland, D12 XY86
Nature of business: Professional services

Proportion of voting rights 100%

O'Brien Neenan & Co. Ltd )

St. Joseph's, Wilton, Bishopstown Road, Cork, Ireland, T12 E270
Nature of business: Professional services

Proportion of voting rights 100%

O'Donovan Lavin & Co (Limerlck) Ltd

1 Mount Kennett Place, Henry Street, Limerick. [reland, V94 NP28
Nature of business: Professional services

Proportion of voting rights 100%

O'Kelly Sutton Limited

Scarton House, Priory Court, Kildars, lrefand
Nature of business: Professlonal services
Proportion of voting rights 100%

O'Mahony Donnelly i_td

10 McCurteln Hill, Clonakilty, Co. Cork, Ireland, P85 K230
Nature of business: Professional services

Proportion of voting rights 100%

RTW Accounting Services Ltd

16 Woedstown Vlllage Centre, Knocklyon, Dublin 16, lreland
Nature of business: Professional services

Proportion of voting rights 100%

Somers Murphy & Earl Business Advisory Services Ltd
48 Upper Mount Street, Dublin, Irefand

Nature of business: Professional services

Proportion of voting rights 100%

Tynan Dillon Advisers Ltd

74 Northumberland Road, Dublin 4, lreland
Nature of business: Professional services
Proportion of voting rights 100%

Xelnadin Group Limited (XGL) was formed in 2018 for the specific purpose of being the holding company for the
consolldation of a large number of accountancy practices. The consolidation of 115 subsldiary companies was
completed on 1 June 2019 and was completed via a share for share exchange, excepl for the opening net working
capital, plant and equipment and leased assets of £7,305k which were affected by an intercompany hive-up. The
completion of this consolidation resulted in Xeinadin UK Professlonal Services Limited (a 100% subsidiary of XGL)
holding 61% of the ordinary share capltal In each of the UK subslidiaries and Xeinadin Professlonal Services
(Ireland) Limited holding en "A” Ordinary share in each of the Irish subsldiaries. This "A” Ordinary share gave XGL
via XPSIL the power to appoint and control the board of directors of the Irish subsldiaries and also had an
entitlement to a return on Investment over a prescribed minimum dividend In each Irish subslidiary.
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The accounting policy note 2 on the basis of consolldation explains how in accounting for this transaction XGL s
not the acquiror but Is the acquires. The question arlses who Is the acquiror and using the parameters set out In
IFRS 3 App B, this has been identified as CMC Accountancy Limited. This Is known as a reverse acquisition. The
accounting treatment that has been applied in respect of the reverse takeover Is as follows:

- The asset and liabllities of the legal subsidlary CMC Accountancy Limited are recognised and measured in the
Group financlal statements at the pre-combination carrying amounts without restatement to fair value;

- The retained earnings and other equlty balances recognised in the Group financlal statements reflect the retained
earnings and other reservas of CMC immediately prior to the business comblnation. The combination occurred on
1 June 2019 therefors CMC had no profits in the year to date and the subsidlaries contributed to consolldated profit
for the year ended 31 May 2020; '

- The share capital structure in the Group financlal statements refiects the share structure of Xetnadin Group Limited
inoluding the equity instruments Issued to affect the business combination, the cost of the combination has bean
determined from the perspective of CMC;

- In a reverse acquisition the value of the consideration shares |s measured by the falr value of the notional number
of equity Instruments that CMC would have to issuse to give the owners of XGL the same ownership in the comblned
entity. In this case, the fair value has been derived through considering the fair value of the CMC businéss at the
acquisition date of 1 June 2018 as valued by the Valuations Professlonal. Thls acquisition Is complicated by the
acqulsition of the remalning subsidlaries consequently an alternative approach must ba taken to the fair value of
the conslderation using what is considered the most reliable measure. In the oplnion of the directors a more religble
measure is the market value of the XGL shares which is the fair value of the business based on market multiples.

ACQUISITIONS
On 1 June 2019 Xelnadin Group Limited acquired an interast in 115 subsidlary companies.
London Rest of Republic'of Total
UK fretand
£'000 £000 €000 £'000

Rlght of use assets 1,322 4,347 c 973 ¢ 8,642
Piant and equipment 393 535 349 1,277
Brand 2,570 3,850 1,930 8,350
Customer relationships . 23,950 40,850 18,650 83,450
Trade receivahies 1,303 1,205 41 2,548
Prepayments and accrued Income 553 599 78 1,230
Contract assets 2,108 4,439 526 7,071
Other debtors 168 236 23 427
Cash and cash equivalents 318 5983 23 934
TOTAL ASSETS e 32,683 56654 22593 111,930
Trade payables 144 247 - 391
Accruals and other payables 53 873 21 847
Contract liabllitles 180 1,281 - 1,431
Right of use liabilities 1,338 4,283 973 " 6,594
Intercompany balances 1,425 2,724 370 4,519
Other creditors 2,327 1,078 ) 57 3,462
Deferred tax arising on acquisition (due to fair value of ’ .
brand and customer relationships) 4,721 7,858 3,664 16,343
TOTAL LIABILITIES 10,188 18,414 5085 33,687
TOTAL IDENTIFIABLE NET ASSETS AT FAIR
VALUE 78,243
Goodwlll arlsing on acquisition 212,517
TOTAL CONSIDERATION 2

299_ 760
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The non-controlling Interest on acquisition of £178m was determined by ceiculating the proportional share of
identified net assets attributable to the non-controlling Interest (UK 49%, ROI 100%).

As set out above the Group acquired a 51% Interest In 89 subsldlarles based in the UK as part of the large
consolldation of accountancy practices. Total consideration was £221m and was paid by the share for share
exchange In XGL shares.

In addition, 26 subsidiaries were acquired in the Republic of ireland for a total considsration of £69m which was
also settled by the Issue of XGL shares.

The commercial rationala for the deal reflects the Group's expected profit opportunities (both opportunistic and
synerglstic) from the combined power of all 115 entltles working togsther. Through delivery of services at a regional
and hub level, supported by the investment in a centralised infrastructure (finance, IT and marketing), the Group is
expscted to generato greater profitabllity and benefit from the combined power of the structure. Management note
that the remaining goodwill of £184.8m (2020: £204.0m) (note 13) Is sufficiently covered by the value In use
expected to be generated by the Group on a forward projecting basis.

The goodwill that was generated on the combination of the businesses together principally reflects the combined
earning (and sale) potential for the Group as & whole, in addition to the collective skills and expertise of its people.
Goodwill Is not expected to be tax deductible.

As noted previously, aside from the hive-up of the net working capital, plant and. equipment and leased assets Into
the Group from the previous trading companies, which ware settled through inception of intercompany balances,
the entire transactlon was undertaken through a share for share exchange.

Transaction costs Incurred by the Group as a whole were immaterlal.
There were no cash flows made specifically In raspect of the acquisition of the Group as materially, the combination
was effected through a share for shars exchange. There ware no acquisitions during the year ended 31 May 2021.

DISPOSALS

During the year ended 31 May 2021 the Group disposed of its shareholding In 9 {2020: 4) subsidlary companles.
The proceeds of disposal were nil and there was a {oss on disposal of £16,3m. Further information relating to the
loss on disposal can be found In Note 6. These do not meet the raquirements of IFRS 5 for presentation as a
discontinuad operation since they do not represent major geographical operations or major separate lines of
business.

The Group disposed of subsidiaries as foilows: -

31 May 2021

BBK Accountants BMM Ltd 1 June 2020

JP Egan Ltd 1 June 2020

OPL Accountants Ltd 31 October 2020
Baker Clarke FDY Ltd 30 November 2020
Thures Accountants Lid 30 November 2020
Kevin Kearney Assoclates Mll Ltd 26 March 2021

Joy Lane & Co Ltd 31 May 2021

RWDB 2018 Ltd 31 May 2021

The Hudson Partnership Ltd 31 May 2021

31 May 2020

Lalor O'Shea McQuillen Ltd 1 March 2020
Rawlence and Browne UDY Ltd 29 May 2020

A.T. Blackley and Co Ltd 31 May 2020
Burrow and Crowe Accountants Ltd 31 May 2020
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TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Group Company
2021 2020 2021 2020

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Current:
Trade receivables 20,201 20,414 1 -
Amounts owed by group undertakings - - 688 248
QOther debtors 1,588 1,583 75 -
~ Prepayments - 1,992 1,890 42 31
] 23!781 23!887 806 279

Trade-receivables

The average credit period on trade recelvables Is 71 days (2020: 67 days). No interest Is charged on outstanding
recelvables. The Group does not hold any collateral. The carrylng amount of trade and other recelvables
approximates the fair value,

The Group has adopted the simplified mode! as the assets are &ll basic and therefore lifetime expecied credit
lossas are assumed.

The Group recognises a loss allowance of 13.21% (2020-12.6%) for racelvables over 120 days. These accounts
include a loss allowance of £0.7m (2020- £0.7m) In respect of these debts over 120 days. Based on historical
experience this is consldered adequate as many customars are slow payers and will require repeat services.
Therefore, will need to settle the fees before any additional services are provided.

Other than as disclosed below for the expected credit loss rate, there has baen no change in the estimation
techniques or significant assumptlons made during the current reporting period. In addition to the historical elemant
of the credit loss experience the Group has considered a combination of forward-looking information cut by industry
exposure to macro-economic factors including the impact of Covid-18.

The following table details the risk profile of trade recelvables and contract assets based on the Group's provision
matrix. ’

' Gross carrying Lifetime Expected
Trade recelvables due days at 31 May 2021 amount expected credit crodit loss rate
losges
£'000 £000 %
Current 9,090 92 1.01
More than 30 days 3.21 59 1.83
More than 60 days 2,045 64 . 314
More than 90 days 1,418 65 4.60
More than 120 days 5,435 718 1321
_21!.1_.9.9 . 998._ A 4.7
2021 2020
£'000 £'000
Trade recsivables and contract assets .
Trade receivables 21,199 21,474
Contract assets 10,836 10,594
Expected credit lossas (1,121) 1,3665
Net trade receivables and contract ts
and co asse » 3(&914 - 30!792
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TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES -continued

2021 2020
£'000 £'000
Expected cradit loss
At 31 May 2020 1,366 -
Increase during the year 398 1,367
Utllised during the year e, (840) ¥
At 31 May 2021 1,121 1,366
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Company
2021 2020 2021 2020
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Bank accounts 18,287 16,143 279 247
TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
. Company
2021 2020 2021 2020
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Current:
Trade payables 1,905 1,787 134 30
Amounts owed to group undertakings - - 232 118
Social security and other taxes 8,853 8,400 126 72
QOther creditors 6,038 7,468 2 1
Accrued expenses 3,148 4,660 630 686
19,944 23,315 1,124 807

Trade paysbles and accruals comprise amounts outstanding for trade purchases and ongoing costs. The carrying
amount of trade and other payables epproximates the fair value.

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES - BORROWINGS

Group Company

2021 2020 2021 2020

£000 £'000 £'000 £000
Current:
Bank loans 309 323 - -
Other loans 204 323 . 43
Leases (see nots 20) 1,800 2,082 - -

2,403 2,728 . 49
Non-current:
Bank loans 962 950 - -
Other loans 13 25 - -
|_eases (see note 20) 7,795 7,793 - -

8,770 8,788 ‘ . .
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LEASING

Group
Right-of-use assets

Property, plant and equipment

2021 2020
£000 £'000
COST OR VALUATION
At 1 June 2020 11,520 -
Additlons 2,165 11,620
Loss of control {1,007) -
Exchange differences {103) -
12,676 11,620
DEPRECIATION
At 1 June 2020 1,864 -
Charge for year 2,917 1,868
Loss of control (315) -
Exchange differences (228) Q)
3,438 1,864
NET BOOK VALUE 9,137 9,656

The right-of-use assets relate predominately to office facilities occupled by the employees of the subsidiary

companies who provide professlanal services to their customer base.

The Group does not consider that there would be any material Impact on the business should extensions not be
granted to the exlIsting leases or If early termination was required by elther the Group or the lessors.

The internal borrowing rate used Is the rate appertaining to the individual subsldiary companles who are the parties

to the teases, the Internal borrowing rate varles across the Group between 3% and 5%

Group
2021
£000
Leases
At 1 June 2020 9,875
Additions on business combinations -
Additions . 2,165
Loss of control (689)
Lease payments in year (2,088)
Interest unwinding 332
9,595
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LEASING - continued
Lease liabilitles

Minlmum lease payments fall due as follows:

2021 2020
£000 £000
Gross obligations repayable:
Within one year 2,089 2,424
Between one and five years 8,517 8,797
10,808 11,221
Finance chargas repayable:
Within one year 289 342
Between one and five years 722 1,004
1,011 1,346
Net obligations repeyable:
Within one year 1,800 2,082
Between one and five years 7,795 7,793
9,595 9875

At 31 May 2021, the Group is committed to £9.6m (2020-£9.8m) in future lease payments, none of which relates
to short-term leases. The carrying amount of the lease liabllities approximates the falr value.

The Group's obligations are secured by the lessors' title to the leased offices which have a carrying value of £8.1m
(2020-£9.7m). The Group does not face a significant liquidity risk with regard to Its lease ilablilities and these are
monltored as part of the overall process of managing cash flows.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Group

Classes and categories of financlal Instruments and their falr values

The statement of financlal position is analysed below;

Fair value through  Balance In the statement of

Amortised cost profit or loss financlal position
2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Trade and other
receivables 21,788 21,897 - - 21,789 21,997
Cash and bank
balances 18,267 16,143 - - 18,267 16,143
Contract assets 10,7493 10,288 - - 10,713 10,288
Trade and other
payables 11,091 13,915 - - 11,091 13,916
Lease liabllities 9,595 9,875 - - 9,595 9,875
Loans and
borrowings 1,578 1,621 - - 1,578 1,621

The finenclal Instruments are stated at thelr amortised costs.

The Group is exposed to the following financial risks from its use of financlal instruments which malnly compriss of
trade recelvables, contract assels and cash. ’

Market risk
The Group s exposed to interest rate and forelgn exchange rates.

Page 53 continued...




22,

XEINADIN GROUP LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - continued
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2021

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS ~ continued

a) Interest rate .

The Group exposure to interest rate risk is low as It only has a small amount of bank loans. The group does not
use derivative instruments to reduce its economic exposure to change in interest rates. A 1% Increase In interest
rates would give rise to an Increase of £15,780 In interest charges.

b) Foreigh exchange risk

The majority of the Group's sales are made, and income s earned, In GBP with the batance in Euros.

The Group does not hedge the [mpact of exchange rate movements afising on translation of earnings Into sterling
at average exchangs rates. The following s the Euros rate applied during the year:

Euros to GBP: Average rate x 0.8896 (2020: 0.8775), closing rate x 0.8604 (2020; 0.9004).

The majority of the Group's transactions are carried out in the respective functional currencies of the group's
operations and so transaction exposure Is minimal. Glven the minimal nalure of these exposures the group doas
not have any cashflow hedging Instruments.

Credlt risk

This Is the risk that counterparties to financlal instruments do not perform according to the terms of the contract or
Instrument. The Group's credit risk Is primarlly attributable to trade reéceivables. The board consider this to be a
lower risk because the nature of business involves a high volume and low value transactions. The credit risk Is
spread over a large number of unrelated counterparties and customers. in addition, the Group holds long standing
relationships with a very large percentage of its customers and closely monitors the credit worthiness of customers
and reviews aged analysls reports. If amounts are no longer considered recoverable, they are written off, The
Group applied IFRS 9 simplifled approach to measure expected credit losses which uses a lifelime expscied loss
allowance for trade recelvablaes and contract assets. The expected loss rates derived from this assessment are
adjusted to reflect current and forward thinking Information affecting the abliity of customers to pay. The Group has
over 40,000 customers, the largest of which generates total fees of less than £200,000 and as a consequence the
credit risk is.widely spread and the Group has no exposure to any one single customer. Cash balances are held
with strong rated commerclal banks and therefore the credit risk Is expected to be low.

Liquidity risk

This is the risk that the Group cannot mast its financlal obligations as they fall due. This is considered to be a low
risk as the Group has significant cash reserves and very low borrowing levels. In order to minimise the sk the
board regularly monitors forecasts and actual cash flows in order to ensure the Group can mest Its obligations.

The below table shows the gross, contractual cash flow commitments on the Group's financlal liabilities.

Gross Falling Falling Falling due in Falling due in
. Carrying contractual duein1 due In 1-2 2-5 years 5+ yoars
2021 amount cash flows year years
£'000 £000 £'000 £000 £'000 £000

Trade and other .
payables - 11,001 11,091 11,091 - - -
Bank and other
loans 1,578 1,664 615 438 600 11
Lease liabilitias 9,595 10,606 2,089 2,275 6,242 .
Total 22,264 23,361 13,795 2,713 6,842 "

Gross Falling Falling Falling due in Faliing dus in

. Carrying contractual  duein1 due In 1-2 2-5 years 5+ years
2020 amount oash flows year years
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Trade and other
payables 13,914 13,914 13,914 - - -
Bank and other
loans 1.821 1,759 711 318 579 151
Lease liabllitles 9,876 11,221 2,424 4,298 4,499 -
Total 25,411 26,894 17,049 4,616 5,078 151
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DEFERRED TAX
Group
2021 2020
£'000 £'000
Balance at 1 June 2020 13,928 -
Arising on capitalisation of Intangibles - 16,104
Releaged on amortisation of Intangibles - (1,678) (1,786)
Released on disposal of intangibles (832) (606)
Accelerated capital allowances 1 114
Re-measurement of tax to enacted rate of 25% 3,118 -
' Balance at 31 May 2021 . 14!538 13,928
The belance comprises:
Amount attributable to Intangibles 14,423 13,814
Accelerated capital allowances 115 114
Balance at 31 May 2021 14!538 13!928
Company
2021 2020
£'000 £000

Accelerated capital allowances (]

Losses carried forward {1) . -
ag
—.——=i

Balance at 31 May 2021

The balance comprises:
Accelerated capital allowances

Deferred tax liabllities have been measurad at the rate they are expected to unwind at, using rates substantively
enacted at 31 May 2021.

CALLED UP SHARE CAPITAL

Allotted, issued and fully pald:

Number: Class; Nominal 2029 2020
value: £ £
2,019 Member shares .01 20 22
10,310 Deferred shares .01 104 102
. 124 124
00—} L

The holders of the member shares have full voting rights, the right to recelve dividends and the right to share in

any return of capital. The holders of the deferred shares have no rights other than to a return of capital at par value.

RESERVES
The purpose of each reserve Is as follows:

Retalned eamings
This represents distributable profits earned since the formatlon of the Group, net of dividends pald to the holders
of the equity of the Group.

Share premium

This represents the portion of the excess value of the shares Issued in exchange for the acqulsition of the Group's
subsidiaries as part of the combination on 1 June 2019, as attributable to the holders of the aquity of the Group.
This Includes the premium in respect of Crowley & McCarthy Accountancy Limited's acquisition of Xeinadin Group
Limited as reverse acquirer,

Reverse acquisition reserve

This reserve was created on the reverse takeover of Xeinadin Group Limited by Crowley & McCarthy Accountancy
Limited. .
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RESERVES - continued

Non-controlling interest

This represents the portion of the excess value of the shares issued in exchange for the acqulsition of the Group's
subsidiares as part of the comblnation on 1 June 2019, as attributable non-controliing shareholders of the Group.
In addition to thig the profits for the year as attributable to the non-controlling interests, net of dividends paid, are
represented within this reserve.

PENSION COMMITMENTS

The Group operates defined contribution schemss. During the year the Group contributed £2.4m (2020: £1.4m).
There were outstanding contributions at the balance sheet date of £0.2m (2020: £0.2m) included within other
creditors.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Contingent liabllities are possible obligations whose existence depends on the outcome of uncertain future events
or present obligations where the outflow of resources Is uncertain or cannot be measured reliably.

Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the financlal statemants but are disclesed unless they are remote.

The Group maintains Professional Indemnity Insurance and can confirm that there are no material claims
outstanding relating to the perlod since the Group was formed on 1 June 2019.

Simllarly, the Group does not have any material exposure on Property Dilapidations.
CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

At the balance sheet date the Group had no materlal commiiments in respect of property, plant and equipment
(2020: £nil).

RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

Transactlon amount Balance owed

2021 2020 2021 2020

£'000 £:000 £'000 £'000
Companies in which Directors or their
Immedlate family have a
significant/controlling interest
-Income earned from related parties 535 131 114 46
Purchases from related parties 382 287 131 46

The key management personnel comprlée of the Group board who plan, contro! and monitor the activities of the
Group. Detalls of their remuneration are given In note 5.

The subsidiary undertakings listed in note 16 are related parties of the parent company. The transactions entered
into with subslidiaries during the year are eliminated on consolldation. These transactions include management
charges and charges for the cost of services pmvlded

The total amount of transactions entered with subsldlanes during the year was as follows:

2021 2020
£'000 £'000
Income earned from subsidiaries 5,119 1,263
Dividends received from subsidiarles (Included In income above) 3,056 -
Purchasas from subsldiaries 391 351
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SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Since the balance sheet date, the Group has continued to successfully navigate the business through the Covid-
19 pandemic and related lockdowns. The Group is in advanced negotiations with & number of accountancy
practices to acquire those practices as pert of the Xeinadin Group. The Xelnadin Group expects to fund the
acquisition of these entities by an equity transaction.

Tax rates. with effect from 1 April 2023 are expected to rise to rise to 25% in accordance with the fact that the
Finance BIll has received royal assent. Glven the substantive enactment of this tax rate on 24 May 2021, the
deferred tax balance (sea note 23) has been re-measured by £3.1m to factor in the impact of the higher rate.

In October 2021, the Group successfully agreed the purchase of 100% of the share capital of a target company to
join the Xeinadin Group, on the basls of total cash consideration payable of £2.0m. £1m will be payable by end of
March 2022 and two further instaiments of £0.5m will be payable. on the first and second annlversarles of the Inltial
payment date. Glven the proximity of this event to the date of signing these financlal statements, management
have not yet conducted a purchase price allocatlon exerclse on the acqulsition.

Further potentlal acquisitions have been targeted and are at varying stages, including 3 entities thaet have agreed
Heads of Terms with the Group.

CHANGES IN LIABILITIES FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The following Is & raconciliation of cash flow and non-cash flow movements relating to the financing of the Group,
in accordance with the requirements of IAS 7.44(A).

Year ended 31 May 2021 New Interest Non Total
2020 Repayments loans pald cash 2021
£'000 £'000 £'000 £000 £'000 £000
Long term borrowings 975 - 440 {5) (435) 975
Short terms borrowlings 646 (482) - 2) 441 603
Lease liabilities 9,875 -{4,756) - {832) 1,808 9,595
Total debt liabilities 11,496 _(2,238) 440 _:(339) 1,814 A1,173 .
Year ended 31 May 2020 New Interest Non Total
2019  Repayments loans paid cash 2020
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Long term borrowings - - 975 (11) 11 976
Short term borrowings - (91) 737 (8) 8 646
Lense llabllities - {1,645) - {294) _ 11814 9,875
Total debt liabilities -, £1,736) 1,712 .. {313) 11,833 . 11,496

The "non-cash” items to the above are primarily in relatlon to the taking on of new leases which create a large
upfront lease llabillty without cash changing hands, in addltion to changes In the maturity profile of borrowings as
future Instalments fall due. '

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group Is not subject to elther Internally or externally Imposed capital requirements. The Group's objective when

managling capital is to provide sufficient resources to allow the growth and development of the Group In order to
safeguard the Group's abllity to continue as a going ¢oncern, so that it can continue to provide retums-for
shareholders.

The Group manages capltal by regularly monfitoring its current and expected liquidity requirements rather than
using debt/equity ratio analyses. No changes were made In abjectives, palicies and processes during the cumrent
or previous year.

The Group does not consider anything other than share capital in this assessment.
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